

Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Fakultät

Pan Chen | Julia Bornhorst | Michael Aschner

Manganese metabolism in humans

Suggested citation referring to the original publication: Frontiers in Bioscience, Landmark 23 (2018) pp. 1655–1679 DOI https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00766 ISSN (print) 1093-9946 ISSN (online) 1093-4715

Postprint archived at the Institutional Repository of the Potsdam University in: Postprints der Universität Potsdam Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftliche Reihe ; 711 ISSN 1866-8372 https://nbn-resolving.org/urn:nbn:de:kobv:517-opus4-427432 DOI https://doi.org/10.25932/publishup-42743

Manganese metabolism in humans

Pan Chen¹, Julia Bornhorst², Michael Aschner¹

¹Department of Molecular Pharmacology, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Bronx, NY 10461, ²Department of Food Chemistry, Institute of Nutritional Science, University of Potsdam, Nuthetal, Germany D-14558

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Mn absorption and distribution in humans
 - 3.1. exposure routes and absorption
 - 3.1.1. Ingestion
 - 3.1.2. In utero exposure
 - 3.1.3. Inhalation
 - 3.1.4. Intravenous administration and dermal exposure
 - 3.2. Distribution and regulation
 - 3.2.1. Blood
 - 3.2.2. Liver
 - 3.2.3. Bone
 - 3.2.4. Pancreas
 - 3.2.5. Kidney
 - 3.2.6. Brain
 - 3.3. Elimination

4. Mn metabolism regulated by Mn transporters at the cellular level

- 4.1. Transported Mn-species
- 4.2. Membrane Mn transporters
 - 4.2.1. Mn influx: TfR, DMT1, ZIP8/ZIP14, calcium channels, citrate transporter, DAT, choline transporter, ceruloplasmin
 - 4.2.2. Mn efflux: Ferroportin, SLC30A10, NCX
- 4.3. Intracellular Mn transporters
 - 4.3.1. Endosome: TfR and DMT1
 - 4.3.2. Lysosome: PARK9/ATP13A2
 - 4.3.3. Golgi: SPCA1, HIP14, SLC30A10 and Ca channels
 - 4.3.4. Mitochondria: DMT1, TfR, citrate transporter and Ca uniporter
 - 4.3.5. Nucleus: unknown
- 5. Summary and future directions
- 6. Acknowledgement
- 7. References

1. ABSTRACT

Manganese (Mn) is an essential nutrient for intracellular activities; it functions as a cofactor for a variety of enzymes, including arginase, glutamine synthetase (GS), pyruvate carboxylase and Mn superoxide dismutase (Mn-SOD). Through these metalloproteins, Mn plays critically important roles in development, digestion, reproduction, antioxidant defense, energy production, immune response and regulation of neuronal activities. Mn deficiency is rare. In contrast Mn poisoning may be encountered upon overexposure to this metal. Excessive Mn tends to accumulate in the liver, pancreas, bone, kidney and brain, with the latter being the major target of Mn intoxication. Hepatic cirrhosis, polycythemia, hypermanganesemia, dystonia and Parkinsonismlike symptoms have been reported in patients with Mn poisoning. In recent years, Mn has come to the forefront of environmental concerns due to its neurotoxicity. Molecular mechanisms of Mn toxicity include oxidative stress, mitochondrial dysfunction, protein misfolding, endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress, autophagy dysregulation, apoptosis, and disruption of other metal homeostasis. The mechanisms of Mn homeostasis are not fully understood. Here, we will address recent progress in Mn absorption, distribution and elimination across different tissues, as well as the intracellular regulation of Mn homeostasis in cells. We will conclude with recommendations for future research areas on Mn metabolism.

2. INTRODUCTION

Mn is the 12th most abundant element and 5th most abundant metal on the earth. This metal has a silver-grey color and is very easy to oxidize. Thus, Mn is not found as a free element, but usually exists as oxides, carbonates and silicates. The naturally occurring and most stable isotope is ⁵⁵Mn, and 18 radioisotopes have been discovered, with a half-life from seconds to million years. Although found in a negative oxidation state (-3), Mn commonly exists in positive oxidation states (+2, +3, +4, +6, and +7). In living organisms, the most commonly oxidized states are Mn²⁺ and Mn³⁺. Mn²⁺ is the most stable form, while Mn³⁺ is a powerful oxidant, which is usually disproportionated to Mn2+ and Mn⁴⁺, or forms complexes with proteins, such as transferrin (Tf) (1). Natural earth erosion releases tons of Mn into the air, soil and waterways on an annual basis, which is subsequently available for absorption by microorganisms, plants and animals. Given its physical and chemical properties, Mn is widely used in various industrial settings. In manufacture, Mn is incorporated in production of batteries, ceramics, steel, cosmetics, leather, fireworks and glass. In energy consumption, the combustion of gas releases Mn phosphate into the atmosphere secondary to the usage of an antiknock gasoline additive - methylcyclopentadienyl Mn tricarbonyl (MMT). In agriculture, Mn is present in various pesticides and fungicides, such as Maneb and Mancozeb, which may result in adverse health effect in farmers and others. In medicine, given its paramangnetic property, Mn serves as a contrast agent in medical magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (2, 3).In the infant food industry, Mn is commonly added to total parenteral nutrition (TPN) at significant concentrations as an essential nutrient (4).

Dietary consumption is the primary route of Mn intake for majority of people. Drinking water contains Mn levels ranging from $1\mu g/L$ up to 2 mg/L depending on the locations and contamination (5). In human daily diets, rice, nuts (hazelnuts, almonds, and pecans), whole grains (wheat germ, oats, and bran)

and legumes contain the highest levels of Mn, leafy green vegetables, tea, chocolate and seafood (clams and mussels) are also abundant in Mn. Multivitamins and other daily supplements also contain Mn, although the levels vary.

AlthoughMnisrequiredforvariousphysiological activities, accumulation of excessive Mn in human body can result in severe toxicity. The primary target tissue of Mn toxicity is the brain, and "manganism" refers to a variety of psychiatric and motor disturbances caused by excessive Mn accumulation. Reduced response speed, irritability, mood changes and compulsive behaviors are first noticed in the patients (6); later on, the symptoms get more prominent with four-limb dystonia, an upright stance, tremors at rest and a signature high-stepping gait (7, 8). These symptoms resemble, however, are not identical to symptoms of idiopathic Parkinson's disease (PD) (9). Mn preferentially accumulates in the globus pallidus. Although dopaminergic (DAergic) neurons in the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNpc) are affected by excess Mn, the effect is not as prominent as in PD patients, and loss of DAergic neurons is not as common as in PD. In addition, patients with manganism do not respond to levodopa therapy as well as PD patients (10). Other than neurological symptoms, liver impairments are found in most patients, with micronodular cirrhosis, elevated transaminases and unconjugated hyperbilirubinemia (8). Mn overexposure can also impair cardiovascular function, causing abnormal electrocardiogram, increased heartbeat, shorter P-R interval and lower diastolic blood pressure (11).

3. MN ABSORPTION AND DISTRIBUTION IN HUMANS

Manganese is absorbed by ingestion, inhalation and dermal permeation, and also administered in intravenous injection. It is rapidly absorbed in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract and in the lung, then distributed into different tissues through blood circulation. Liver, pancreas, bone, kidney and brain are the organs containing the highest Mn levels in human body. It has to be clarified that Mn level in the brain is not the highest among these organs, however, the brain is the major target of Mn-induced toxicity as most of the patients with Mn intoxication show symptoms of neurological dysfunction. Thus how Mn crosses the blood-brain barrier (BBB) and accumulates in the brain is of special interest. We will review the processes of Mn uptake, distribution and elimination, as well as the factors that regulate these processes.

3.1. Exposure routes and absorption

3.1.1. Ingestion

Oral exposure is the most common route for Mn absorption. Drinking water, Mn-rich vegetables,

nuts, vitamins, supplements and infant formula are the major Mn food source. In adults, approximately 3-5% of ingested Mn is absorbed through the gastrointestinal (GI) tract, and females tend to have a higher absorption rate (3.5.5 ± 2.1.1%, ~2.3. mg/day) than males (1.3.5 \pm 0.5.1%, ~1.8. mg/day), which is possibly affected by iron status (4, 12, 13). The average intake of Mn is 2.3. to 8.8. mg per day in western diets (14). Currently. the formal recommended dietary allowance for Mn has not been established yet, but the estimated safe and adequate daily dietary intake of Mn for adults is 2–5 mg per day, and the lowest Mn level in water with observable adverse effect is 4.2. mg per day for a 70kg individual (15). However, the number can be much higher in infants or children, due to a higher demand for Mn and a less developed regulatory system at early developmental stages. A daily consumption of 3 µg Mn is sufficiently for an infant up to 6 months of age, and a daily intake of 1.2, and 1.5, mg is adequate for children of 1-3 years old and 4-8 years old, respectively (13). The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends Mn concentration in drinking water < 400 μ g/L (16). In the US the human health benchmark is set at 300 µg/L (17). In contrast, in Bangladesh the level may be as high as 2 μ g/L in the water supply (5), a level which is associated with altered classroom behavior in school-aged (8 to 11 years old) children (18). Infant formula especially soy-based formula is another Mn food source that may result in Mn accumulation in infants (19, 20). However, it can be as 10-fold higher than the recommended level due to lack of maximum requirement of Mn levels in formula production (14).

Ingested Mn is rapidly absorbed in the intestine, where it enters cells through passive diffusion or active transport. In human intestinal cells, Mn is transported in a biphasic pattern with a saturable process similar to other divalent cations, such as iron and calcium (21). It takes about one hour to activate the cellular components (mainly transporters), followed by a progressive acceleration of Mn uptake after a steady-state condition (21). In rat intestinal cells, a high affinity, low capacity, active transport mechanism is reported to regulate Mn absorption (22). The divalent metal transporter 1 (DMT1) is considered to be mainly responsible for active Mn influx, although it also transports other divalent cations. Several factors regulate the absorption of Mn. Mn importers are not necessarily Mn-specific transporters, as they also regulate influx of other metals, such as iron (Fe), copper (Cu), zinc (Zn), calcium (Ca), etc. Therefore, the presence of other metals in the biological media (blood, extracellular fluid, etc) will compete with Mn absorption.

Individuals with Fe deficiency are at higher risk of Mn poisoning as Mn absorption in the GI tract can increase under low Fe conditions (23). Similarly, the expression of Fe/Mn transporters is altered and Mn levels in the brain is upregulated in iron-deficient rats (24) and pigs (25). Approximately 75% of human milk Mn is bound to lactoferrin (26), and the absorption of this complexed Mn could be inhibited by excess ferric lactoferrin in the brush-border membrane vesicles from the small intestine of infant monkey (27). Furthermore, addition of Ca to human milk significantly decreased Mn absorption in both male and female adults: in contrast, addition of phytate, phosphate and ascorbic acid to infant formula, as well as iron and magnesium to wheat bread had no significant effect on Mn absorption (28). In rats, when complexed with albumin or albuminlike proteins. Mn tends to discharge from the intestine. but the transferrin complexed or carrier-free Mn does not (29). Age is another factor known to influence Mn absorption. Infants and children tend to absorb higher amount of Mn from diet due to a large demand of Mn in body development compared with adults. In neonatal rats fed with human milk, bovine milk or infant formula. the absorption of Mn from these milk diets decreased significantly with age (30). Moreover, the Mn retention rate (80%) in rat pups (<15 days) was much higher than in older pups (40%) or adults (31). Although most of Mn uptake is through ingestion, it is considered relatively safe due to efficient liver elimination.

3.1.2. In utero exposure

In utero Mn exposure is often neglected as the direct link between Mn exposure and health effects is obscure. However, there has been an increasing number of studies correlating *in utero* Mn exposure and infant health. Average Mn concentration (78.7.5 mg/L) in umbilical cord blood is higher than in the mother's whole blood (54.9.8 mg/L) and an inverted U-shaped curve has been noted between mothers' whole blood Mn levels and birth weights, as well as between umbilical blood Mn levels and birth weights (32). Similar results were observed in other studies (33-35), indicating both low and high maternal blood Mn levels were associated with impaired infant health.

3.1.3. Inhalation

Most of clinically reported cases of Mn intoxication are due to occupational exposure. Inhalation of airborne Mn is the major exposure route in occupational Mn intoxication. Industrial workers, especially miners (36), smelters (37) and welders (38), breathe in a significant amount of Mn-containing fume and dust, thus are the adult population with the highest risk for Mn-induced toxicity. Inhaled Mn is absorbed in the lung and enters the circulation. It can be rapidly transported to the olfactory bulb and enter the brain by two Zinc transporters ZIP8 and ZIP14, bypassing the liver and BBB (9). In rats exposed to 0.0.92 mg $MnSO_4/m^3$, the level of Mn in the lung was elevated; at 0.9.2 mg $MnSO_4/m^3$, Mn concentrations in the lung, striatum and bile were significantly increased (39).

3.1.4. Intravenous administration and dermal exposure

Intravenous administration of agents containing high levels of Mn is another Mn exposure route, which bypasses the regulation at the GI tract resulting in 100% absorption of the metal (4). For example, premature infants fail to absorb sufficient amounts of nutrients due to an undeveloped GI tract or certain diseases. Thus, they are commonly supplemented with total parenteral nutrition (TPN) by intravenous injection, which contains many trace elements required for life support. Infants taking TPN are of special concern of Mn poisoning. In addition, intravenous abuse of methcathinone, containing manganese dioxide as a byproduct of synthesis, has been reported to result in manganism (40-43). The absorbed amount can reach from 60 to 180 mg per day, far beyond the average intake from diet (41-43). Furthermore. Mn exposure through skin is also a risk factor for individuals with contact to organic forms of Mn, such as the gasoline supplement methylcyclopentadienyl manganese tricarbonyl (MMT) (2).

3.2. Distribution and regulation

In the human body, liver (1.2-1.3 mg/kg), pancreas (1.04 mg/kg), bone (1 mg/kg), kidney (0.98 mg/kg) and brain (0.15-0.46 mg/kg) are the organs containing highest Mn levels (44). After absorbed in the GI tract or the lung, Mn enters the blood stream and then quickly distributes to different tissues.

3.2.1. Blood

The normal Mn concentrations in human blood ranges from 4 to 15 μ g/L (2), and females tend to have a ~30% higher Mn level than males (45), probably due to a higher absorption rate in women. Currently, the mechanism behind Mn absorption in the intestine and delivery to the plasma remains unclear. Most of the blood Mn (~60%) is distributed in soft tissues, the rest is rapidly delivered to the liver (30%), kidney (5%), pancreas (5%), colon (1%), bone (0.5.%), urinary system (0.2.%), brain (0.1.%) and erythrocytes (0.0.2%) (46).

Ervthrocvtes are responsible for Mn distribution due to its ability to carry the Mn ion with the presence of various Mn transporters, including DMT1 and transferrin receptor (TfR) on the cell surface (47, 48). The divalent Mn^{2+} and trivalent Mn^{3+} are the two major Mn species in the blood, although the exact ratio of these two species remains unknown. Mn²⁺ is the predominant form in the blood and exists in complexed with different molecules, including albumin (84%) of total Mn²⁺), hexahydrated ion (6%), bicarbonate (6%), citrate (2%), and transferrin (Tf) (1%); almost all Mn³⁺ is bound to transferrin to form a more stable

complex (49-51). Mn³⁺ is a highly reactive oxidant and usually gets reduced to Mn²⁺. Interestingly, Mn²⁺ can be oxidized to Mn³⁺ by ceruloplasmin, which is an abundant plasma protein synthesized in the liver and able to oxidize iron and copper (52). In mice, ceruloplasmin has been shown to regulate Mn levels in the blood and kidney, as well as the brain and lung to a lesser extent: meanwhile, this protein also elevates brain oxidative stress probably via an extracellular ceruloplasmin-manganese redox mechanism upon chronic Mn exposure (52). Transferrin is also produced in the liver and secreted in the plasma. This circulating protein binds to both Mn2+ and Mn3+; together with transferrin receptor (TfR), Tf regulates Mn³⁺ transport to the brain in a way similar to Tf/Fe³⁺ transport, but this process is less efficient compared with other transporter mediated Mn transport processes (53).

3.2.2. Liver

Liver is the primary organ to regulate body Mn levels through endogenous gut losses of Mn (29). The liver cells express various Mn transporter on the cell membrane, including DMT1 (54), transferrin/ transferrin receptor (Tf/TfR) (55, 56), ZIP14 (54, 57) and citrate transporters (58), which regulate Mn influx. Meanwhile, Mn exporters including SLC30A10 (59), ferroportin (60) and SPCA1 (61) are also expressed in the liver, regulating efflux of excess Mn. Thus, liver plays an important role in Mn storage, redistribution and elimination. As the blood passes through the liver, a small but adequate amount of Mn required for physiological functions remains in the plasma, while excess Mn is sequestered by liver cells and conjugated to bile, which then passed to the intestine and excreted in the feces (29, 62).

3.2.3. Bone

Bone is another tissue with extensive Mn accumulation with a normal concentration of 1 mg/kg (14, 63) and approximately 40% total body Mn (62). Thus, bone Mn can be used as a biomarker for Mn exposure. Using in vivo neutron activation analysis (IVNAA) bone Mn measurements, Pejović Milić and colleagues found that the mean Mn level (2.9.±0.4. µg Mn/g Ca) in the hand bone of welders exposed to Mn rich environment, was significantly higher than the non-occupationally exposed subjects (0.1.±0.7. µg Mn/g Ca) (64). In adult rats, atomic absorption spectrometry (AAS) revealed that Mn concentrations in bone reached a steady state after 6-week of Mn exposure, with approximately 2-3 fold increase of bone Mn levels before exposure (65). The half-life of Mn in femur, tibia and humerus bones was 77, 263 and 429 days, respectively; the average half-life of rat skeleton bone was 143 days, which was about 8.5. vears in human (65). In addition, Mn concentrations in striatum, hippocampus and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF)

was found to be relevant to bone Mn levels (65), indicating a possible redistribution of bone Mn to the central nervous system and a risk factor for developing manganism.

3.2.4. Pancreas

The distribution of Mn in the pancreas and kidney is less studied. Kodama and colleagues studied Mn distribution in Wistar rats by subcutaneous delivery of 15 mg of Mn/kg daily for 10 days. They found that Mn concentration in the pancreas was significantly increased from 1.4. to 13.3. µg/g wet tissue, and Mn was found in the high-molecular-mass protein fraction (66). Interestingly, they identified that Mn bound to the Zn binding site of protein zymogen of carboxypeptidase B (pro-CBP), which was the primary Mn-binding protein in the pancreas (66). In pancreatic islets isolated from ob/ob mice incubated with 0.2.5 mM Mn for 1 hour, the intracellular Mn concentration was about 25-fold higher than that of the extracellular medium which was stimulated by 20 mM D-glucose due to inhibition of Mn efflux in the islets (67). Interestingly, in Korean diabetes patients, blood Mn concentrations were significantly lower than the control group, suggesting blood Mn may regulate glucose homeostasis (68).

3.2.5. Kidney

Kidney also contains high levels of Mn. In Korean population, people with renal dysfunction have significantly lower blood Mn concentrations than the healthy group (68), indicating kidney may plays a role in mediating blood Mn levels or vice versa. In rats exposed to Mn by oral gavage, the kidney and prostate glands of male rats showed the most obvious lesions. Animals had viscous, gritty urine, and even urinary bladder stones, and tubulointerstitial nephritis with tubular proteineous and glomerulosclerosis was also reported. However, female rats were affected, indicating a sex-preference of Mn intoxication in these rats (69). The absorption of Mn in the kidney is regulated by several Mn transporters, including ZIP8, ZIP14 and DMT1 in the epithelial cells of proximal tubules in the kidney, as knockdown of these three transporters significantly reduced Mn uptake (70).

Mn excretion happened primarily in the apical side of the proximal tubule cells (70) although the mechanism has not been revealed yet.

3.2.6. Brain

The human brain is the most susceptible organ to Mn intoxication, as neurological disorders are the most obvious and severe symptoms seen in people with Mn poisoning, although brain Mn levels are lower than those in liver, pancreas, bone and kidney. Neurons are more susceptible to Mn intoxication possibly due to their long lifespan and high energy demand. Brain Mn can be detected by T1-weighted magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) given the paramagnetic property of Mn ion. In both industrial workers exposed to high levels of Mn and individuals carrying genomic mutations without high environmental Mn exposure, MRI studies showed that in the brain. Mn preferentially accumulates in the globus pallidus, followed by putamen, caudate, midbrain, cerebellum, subthalamic and dentate nucleus and sparing of the thalamus and ventral pons (8, 48, 59, 71). In rats, the highest Mn intensity was found in the globus pallidus, the thalamus and the substantia nigra pars compacta, followed by caudate putamen, axon bundles, and cortex (72). Mn enters the brain via three routes: the blood-brain barrier (BBB), the blood-cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) barrier and the olfactory tract.

Following oral uptake the BBB and the blood-CSF barrier are the two main interfaces regulating the brain Mn homeostasis. While the BBB separates blood from brain interstitial fluid and consists basically of capillary endothelial cells (73), the blood-CSF barrier is composed of epithelial cells of the choroid plexus, which separate the blood from the CSF (74). Mn has been shown to cross both barriers (75, 76). However based on in vitro studies using porcine models of the brain barriers, the blood-CSF barrier is considered as a major route for Mn into the brain. (76). In direct comparison with the in vitro BBB model, the blood-CSF barrier model was much more sensitive toward Mn illustrated by a disturbance of barrier properties. Additionally Mn crosses the blood-CSF barrier model site-directed, most probably by an active Mn transport toward the brain facing compartment. The protection afforded by the BBB and blood-CSF barrier is essential for regulating Mn homeostasis and is essential for neuronal survival and proper central nervous system functioning. In this context concerns are rising about the risk of an elevated dietary Mn exposure of infants due to their immature BBB (77). This might contribute to increased rates of Mn uptake and deposition in infant brain and tissue (78). The olfactory route provides a pathway for inhaled Mn, which comes into contact with the olfactory epithelium, to pass directly to the brain, thereby circumventing the two brain barriers (79).

3.3. Elimination

As mentioned above, an average of 2.3. to 8.8. mg Mn is absorbed daily (14). However, only 2.3. mg/day required for men and 1.8. mg/day for women (4). The extra Mn needs to be eliminated. The turnover of ingested Mn is relatively fast, with an average retention of 10 days (80). Most of excess Mn is conjugated to bile by the liver and get eliminated via fecal excretion (29, 62). Liver plays a critical role in this process as it is reported that the liver is the major source of endogenous gut losses of Mn (29).

Rats fed with Mn diet absorbed about 8% of ingested Mn and then 37% of the absorbed Mn was excreted through endogenous hepatobiliary elimination of Mn (29). Therefore, individuals with hepatic problems are at higher risk of Mn intoxication. In addition to the primary fecal hepatobiliary elimination, Mn excretion through urine (81), milk (82) and sweat (83) has also been reported but with very limited amount. However, the ratio of elimination via different routes may change under certain circumstances. For example, when using hexameric Mn dendrimer as a MRI contrast agent, Mn clearance through renal routes was increased dramatically equal to or over the amount eliminated through hepatobiliary route (84).

4. MN METABOLISM REGULATED BY MN TRANSPORTERS AT CELLULAR LEVEL

Mn can cross the neural barriers by means of transporters and in different oxidation states (85). Although Mn transporters have been vigorously investigated, a conclusive result is presently not available since information from different papers and research groups are contradictory (85-87). Also the process itself as well as the transported Mn-species are strongly debated.

4.1. Transported Mn-species

Focusing on the transported species first, the three most relevant species entering the brain are Mn²⁺, Mn^{2+/3+} citrate and Mn³⁺ transferrin (Mn-Tf). Evidence from animal models, as well as human CSF suggests that Mn-citrate is the major Mn-related species entering the brain (88-90). Brain influx rates have been compared in several animal studies and pointed out to a higher rate for Mn-citrate than unbound or protein-bound Mn (88, 90). Speciation studies performed in human by Michalke and coworkers found Mn from CSF correlated with Mn-Tf, the physiological Mn carrier in serum, as long as total Mn concentration was below 1.5. µg/l. Above 1.9. µg/L, Mn in serum and CSF were positively correlated with Mn-citrate in serum (89, 91, 92). Whether elevated concentrations of Mn-citrate in serum or plasma could be a valuable effect biomarker for increased total Mn concentration in CSF (and brain) need to be proven in further studies.

4.2.1. Mn influx: TfR, DMT1, ZIP8/ZIP14, calcium channels, citrate transporter, DAT, choline transporter, ceruloplasmin

The valence status might account for the transport properties of Mn species at the respective barrier. Mn³⁺ influx from the blood into the CNS is facilitated via Tf receptor-mediated endocytosis. Synthesized in the liver and released to the blood, Tf is binding Mn as a plasma-carrier (93, 94). The TfR expressed in neurons, microglia, astrocytes and

cells of the neuronal barriers, recognizes, binds and transports Mn into the CNS (95, 96). Intracellularly, it is suggested that specific organelles have different concentrations of TfR with high concentrations in the Golgi cisternae, the plasmalemmal pits and the vesicle membrane (97). As an early event in response of Mn exposure an upregulation of TfR trafficking has been observed (98, 99).

However, the majority of Mn in the body is in the divalent oxidation state. Thereby the best studied importer is the divalent metal transporter 1 (DMT1), also known as divalent cation transporter 1 (DCT1), natural resistance-associated macrophage protein 2 (NRAMP 2) or solute carrier family 11 member 2 (SLC11A2). DMT1 is reported to have a wide range of substrates as Fe2+, Zn2+, Mn2+, Cu2+, Co2+, Cd2+, Ni2+ and Pb²⁺ with the following transport affinity (reflecting transport efficacy): Mn>Cd>Fe>Pb~Co~ Ni>Zn (100). Recently, a study defined the conformational changes underlying transition-metal ion transport in the SLC11 family, providing molecular insight to its coupling to protons (101). DMT1 expression in the brain is prominent in neurons, whereas studies report on lower as well as varying protein expression in DMT1 in non-neuronal cells such as astrocytes, microglia and oligodendrocytes, and the two principal cell types that form the brain barriers (102). DMT1 in the brain is highly expressed in the SN, globus pallidus (GP), hypothalamic nucleus and striatum making them more susceptible to Mn accumulation and toxicity (103). DMT1 is located at cellular membranes, endosomal membranes as well as the outer mitochondrial membrane (104). Since the expression of DMT1 in brain capillary endothelial cells remains debatable, it is suggested that Mn might access the brain without the involvement of DMT1. While some studies imply a physiological role for the transport of Mn by DMT1 (105, 106), others suggest no direct evidence supporting its role (76, 107). Since Mn and Fe share and compete for Tf as well as DMT1, an altered amount of either Fe or Mn in the brain may result in a dysregulation of the other, causing altered homeostasis (summarized in (108)).

Next to Fe, Mn has also been reported to compete for transporters of other divalent metals. Mn has also been reported to be transported by a family of Zn transporters. Zn-interacting protein 8 (ZIP8) and 14 (ZIP14) are transmembrane proteins that belong to the SLC39 family of genes which are expressed on the apical surface of brain capillaries. These divalent metal/ bicarbonate ion symporters are known to transport Mn, Zn, and Cd under normal conditions (109). ZIP8 appears to be more important for Mn than Zn homeostasis (110). Both ZIP8 and ZIP14 have high affinity for Mn and ZIP8 overexpression has been shown to stimulate intracellular accumulation of Cd and Mn (111, 112). Since the expression of these two transporters is lower in the brain than in other tissues, they may be more important in regulating body Mn levels by controlling the absorption through the liver and lung (113). Specifically, ZIP8 is proposed to regulate Mn metabolism in the liver, which in turn regulates Mn content in other organs and tissues, including kidney, brain, heart and whole blood. ZIP8. localized to the hepatocyte canalicular membrane. functions to reclaim Mn from biliary excretion which is supposed to be the mechanism underlying the association of the ZIP8 locus with wholeblood Mn and the severe Mn deficiency in patients with ZIP8 mutations (114). A study performing whole-exome sequencing in children demonstrate that variants in ZIP8 impair the function of Mn-dependent enzymes, most notably ß-1,4-galactosyltransferase, a Golgi enzyme essential for biosynthesis of the carbohydrate part of glycoproteins. SLC39A8 deficiency linked for the first time Mn deficiency with inherited glycosylation disorders. As the rapeutic step dietary galactose supplementation is suggested to be effective (110). However, Tuschl et al. (2016) demonstrated that ZIP14 functions as a pivotal manganese transporter and they identified a novel autosomal recessive disorder of Mn homeostasis caused by homozygous mutations in ZIP14 that lead to early-onset rapidly-progressive parkinsonism-dystonia with distinctive brain magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) appearances and neurodegenerative features on post-mortem examination. Additionally the patients show no excessive Mn in the liver, possibly due to the bypassing of hepatic uptake by Mn and subsequent biliary excretion in the absence of ZIP14. Next to the findings in patients they show that mutations in ZIP14 impair manganese transport in vitro and lead to manganese dyshomeostasis and altered locomotor activity in zebrafish with ZIP14 null mutations (115).

Furthermore ZIP14 KO mice exhibited excessive Mn accumulation in the brain associated with impaired motor function (116). Being expressed in the nasal respiratory epithelium and olfactory receptor neuron dendrites ZIP8 and ZIP14 might further play a role in uptake of inhaled Mn through the olfactory pathway, bypassing the neuronal barriers (113).

In addition, the Mg transporter HIP14 and Ca channels located in the plasma membrane are reported to be involved in Mn uptake, and therefore, may play a role in Mn accumulation in the brain. Mn has been shown to enter cell membranes trough store-operated Ca channels which are expressed in brain endothelial cells (117). Besides store-operated calcium channels also voltage-gated Ca channels as well as ionotropic glutamate receptor channels have reported permeability to Mn (118). The expression of voltage-gated Ca channels is higher in dopaminergic neurons of the midbrain, which could contribute to their selective vulnerability induced by Mn (119). Use of a Ca channel blocker resulted in an inhibited Mn uptake in human erythrocytes (120). Mn²⁺ can acutely inhibit ATP-dependent Ca²⁺ signaling in astrocytes by blocking Ca²⁺ entry through the receptor-operated cation channel, TRPC3. Consequently critical homeostatic functions necessary for metabolic and trophic support of neurons might be comprised (121).

As already noted above, Mn-citrate is thought to be the major Mn-related species entering the brain, indicating citrate transporters might represent another putative Mn transporter system. It has been suggested that a Mn-citrate tridentate complex with a noncoordinated central carboxylate recognition moiety could be a substrate for the organic anion transporter or a monocarboxylate transporter (MCT). Evidence for an H⁺-dependent mechanism suggests the possibility that MCT-1 mediates Mn-citrate uptake (75). However, the role of citrate as an efficient *in vivo* Mn transport needs to be further investigated.

In addition, the dopamine transporter (DAT) has been posited to be involved in Mn uptake in the brain. Being highly expressed in in the axons, dendrites and cell bodies of neurons in the SNpc, globus pallidus and striatum it normally functions to induce reuptake of dopamine into presynaptic vesicles (122). Studies point out that DAT and Mn overload impact each other. The usage of DAT inhibitors as well as DAT knockout animals resulted in a reduced Mn accumulation in certain brain areas as the striatum, while affecting Mn accumulation in brain regions not expressing DAT (123, 124). Selectivity to the DAT was verified, since inhibition of the serotonin transporter or norepinephrine transporter did not show this effect (125). Acute Mn administration in animals as well as patients chronically exposed to Mn show decreased DAT levels (123, 126). It has also been observed that the presence of Mn induces the internalization of DAT in transfected HEK cells (127).

Chronic Mn exposure is associated with decreased levels of choline in the hypothalamus and thalamus (128). However, whether choline transporters play a direct role in Mn import, need to be investigated in further studies (129).

At the neuronal level, α -synuclein (α -Syn) is believed to contribute to Mn homeostasis in neurons (130). Overexpression of increased intracellular Mn levels, whereas levels of Ca, Zn, K, P, and S were significantly decreased with not altering the expression patterns of DMT1, voltage-gated Ca-channels and ferroportin. Thus, α -Syn may act as an intracellular Mn store and neurotoxicity associated with PD might be mediated via regulation of transition metal levels and the metal-binding capacity of α -Syn (130).

In addition, the Cu-dependent ferroxidase ceruloplasmin (Cp) is actually discussed to contribute to Mn uptake. While previously it was proposed that

Cp oxidized Mn to its trivalent state and loaded onto Tf (93, 131), a more recent study did not find any difference between control and a ceruloplasminemic mouse in trivalent Mn bound to Tf. The data pointed out further that Cp affects the tissue distribution of Mn and increases oxidative stress in the brain (132).

4.2.2. Mn efflux: Ferroportin, SLC30A10, NCX

In addition to import, Mn efflux plays a central role in regulating intracellular concentrations of this metal in the CNS. Compared with Mn import, less is known about Mn transporters/channel proteins that participate in Mn efflux. Currently, plasma membrane localized exporters include ferroportin (Fpn), SLC30A10 and sodium-calcium exchanger (NCX).

Fpn is the only known mammalian Fe exporter, and is expressed in brain cells including neurons, astrocytes, the endothelial cells of the BBB, oligodendrocytes, the choroid plexus and ependymal cells (133). However, whether or not Fpn exports Mn and plays a role in Mn homeostasis remain controversial. While some studies report the induction of Fpn protein by Mn exposure (134, 135), other reports indicate treatment with Mn has no effect on gene expression (136). Xenopus laevis oocytes expressing human Fpn showed lower intracellular Mn and higher extracellular Mn (135). In an animal model by using flatiron (ffe/+) mice, a genetic model of Fpn deficiency, evidence suggest that Fpn deficiency impairs Mn metabolism. The authors suggest further that flatiron mice provide an excellent genetic model to explore the role of this exporter in Mn homeostasis (137). In addition, in *C. elegans*, a genetic contribution on the Mn export has been shown. pdr-1 (PD related-1) imparts a risk for autosomal recessive, early-onset PD, and encodes for the E3 ubiquitin ligase parkin. Within the ubiquitin proteasome system that targets substrates for degradation, parkin functions in multiple processes, among them is the stabilization of cytoskeletal components associated with actin filaments in neuronal and non-neuronal cells. Recently, studies in C. elegans have shown that a genetic predisposition of PD by means of a loss of *pdr-1*, can modulate Mn export through altered transporter expression of Fpn. Overexpression of fpn-1.1. in worms lacking pdr-1, showed evidence for attenuation of several endpoints of Mn-induced toxicity (138).

SLC30A10 (or ZnT-10) is one of the 10 solute carrier family 30 (SLC30) transporters (ZnTs, Zn transporters). Interestingly, although SLC30A10 mediated Mn efflux, SLC30A1-8 transport Zn. Molecular characterizations as well as crystal structures revealed fundamental differences between a crucial Zn binding site in the transmembrane domain and the corresponding putative metal binding site of SLC30A10 (139) (140, 141). Residues in the transmembrane and C-terminal domains together confer optimal manganese transport capability to SLC30A10 (141). SLC30A10 is localized to the plasma membrane and is functional in manganese metabolism by effluxing cytosolic Mn (142, 143). Recent findings identified the SLC30A10 gene as the disease-causing gene in an inherited Mn overload syndrome. Mutations of the SLC30A10 gene result in parkinsonism with hypermanganesemia along with dystonia, polycythemia, characteristic MRI brain findings in the basal ganglia, and chronic liver disease (8, 144). Currently, it is the only known protein associated with the first hereditary or familial form of Mn-induced parkinsonism underlining its critical role in regulating CNS Mn homeostasis. The new form of familial parkinsonism has been reported first in 2008 by Tuschl et al in a 12-year old girl with hypermanganesaemia, liver cirrhosis, an extrapyramidal motor disorder and polycythaemia (145). The brother had the same symptoms but did not survive. While not being exposed through elevated Mn from environmental or occupational sources, the patient had ~ 10-fold increase in blood Mn levels and the MRI studies point out Mn deposition in the basal ganglia (145). Almost 10 years later, about 13 families have been reported on, for a total of at least 25 affected individuals with the same clinical picture as just described (146, 147). All affected patients carried homozygous mutations in the gene coding for SLC30A10 and thirteen causative mutations have been reported so far (147). The patients have never been exposed to high Mncontaining environment while all patients exhibited 10-20 fold increase in blood Mn levels concomitant with Mn deposition in the basal ganglia. This indicates that homeostatic control of Mn was compromised in the cases (8, 146, 147). Recent findings provided insights in the molecular mechanisms. In vitro as well as in vivo studies discovered that SLC30A10 functioned as a cell-surface-localized manganese efflux transporter that protected against Mn toxicity. A mutation of SLC30A10 resulted in a heightened sensitivity to Mn toxicity (139, 143). Experiments using a full-body, constitutive SIc30a10 knockout mice unexpectedly exhibited extensive alterations in their thyroid while brain and liver were largely unaffected (139). Thus far, the relationship between thyroid function and Mn toxicity has received little attention, and whether human patients of Mn toxicity develop hypothyroidism is unknown and needs to be determined in future studies.

Recent cardiac studies suggested the role of sodium-calcium exchanger (NCX) in Mn accumulation and retention. Studies examined the temporal features of cardiac Mn²⁺ efflux by implementing MRI and inhibiting the NCX with SEA0400. This inhibition was shown to result in an increase of Mn²⁺ blocks manganese efflux in mouse and rat tissues (148-150). More recently, the inhibition of the NCX channel (inhibitor KB-R7943) was shown to increase cellular Mn levels in immortalized mouse striatal neuroprogenitors (151). However, additional studies are needed in order to determine the role of NCX under normal Mn neuronal homeostatic conditions.

4.3. Intracellular Mn transporters

Despite being expressed in the plasma membrane, transporters can be further expressed in the organelles and thus ensure subcellular Mn transport. Regarding their intracellular distribution, only a limited number of studies is available. Data suggested that the lysosomes, the Golgi apparatus, the endosome, mitochondria as well as the nucleus may be significant pools for intracellular Mn (152-156).

4.3.1. Endosome: TfR and DMT1

In addition to the membrane transporters, Mn can be transported into the cytosol via the ligandreceptor endocytosis mechanism, which is mediated by TfR and DMT1. In mouse hippocampal and striatal neuronal cells, Mn³⁺/Tf/TfR complex has been found in a region close to the mitochondrial network, presumably endosomes, via the endocytic transport (53). Later, Mn³⁺ dissociates from Tf/TfR complex after endocytosis. As a unstable and reactive oxidant, Mn³⁺ has to be reduced to Mn²⁺, a process which is mediated by ferrireductase to avoid oxidative stress (9, 53, 157). Analogous to TfR, DMT1 is also expressed in the endosome and transports Mn²⁺ from endosome lumen to cytoplasm (9, 157).

4.3.2. Lysosome: PARK9/ATP13A2

The ATP13A2 gene (PARK9) encodes a lysosomal type 5 P-type ATPase. Its substrate specificity and physiological function are unknown, however studies suggest it is involved in lysosomal degradation of proteins. Mn homeostasis, and most recently Zn transport (158, 159). Mutations in ATP13A2 have been associated with an autosomal recessive levodopa-responsive early-onset parkinsonism, known as Kufor-Rakeb syndrome (160, 161). In in vitro studies ATP13A2 protected cells as neuronal cultures from Mn-induced cell death in response to Mn treatment (160, 162, 163). In primary rat neurons, ATP13A2 levels were increased in the presence of excess Mn, while expression of wild-type ATP13A2 lowered intracellular Mn levels and prevented Mninduced neuronal death (163). These data show the involvement of ATP13A2 in Mn homeostasis which is further underlined by polymorphisms of ATP13A2 to modify the effects of Mn on motor function in an elderly population (164). To modify the activity of ATP13A2 is another approach for a therapeutic strategy. The catalytically active ATP13A2 offers cellular protection

against rotenone-induced mitochondrial stress, which relies on the availability of the lipids phosphatidic acid (PA) and phosphatidylinositol(3.5)bisphosphate (PI(3,5)P2). Thus, the N-terminal binding of PA and PI(3,5)P2 emerges as a key to unlock the activity of ATP13A2, which may offer a therapeutic strategy to activate ATP13A2 (165). Besides regulating Mn toxicity, ATP13A2 is also known to regulate α -Svn toxicity. ATP13A2 expression can suppress α -Syn toxicity in yeast and rescue α-Syn-induced dopaminergic degeneration in primary neuronal culture (160). However, a recent study did not find neuroprotection when ATP13A2 and α -Svn were co-expressed using viral vector technology in the SN in rats (161). Another study supports a relationship between ATP13A2, Mn, and a-Syn accumulation in vivo. Older ATP13A2deficient mice showed Mn enhanced sensorimotor function, increased autofluorescence in the SN, and increased insoluble α -Svn in the ventral midbrain. The authors also found increased Mn concentration in the brain with higher levels in Mn-treated ATP13A2 mutants as compared to the control animals (158). However, another study in a different ATP13A2 knockout mouse showed age-dependent motor impairments, gliosis, accumulated ubiquitin protein aggregates, and endolvsosomal abnormalities but no aberrant α-Syn up to 18 months of age (166). Besides the existing in vitro and in vivo studies, no direct Mn efflux activity for ATP13A2 has been demonstrated up to now. Therefore, additional studies are necessary especially also whether patients who harbor mutations in this gene also exhibit Mn deposition in specific brain regions.

4.3.3. Golgi: SPCA1, HIP14, SLC30A10, calcium channels

Synchrotron X-ray fluorescence nanoimaging has established the Golgi apparatus is the cellular site of preferential accumulation of Mn (153, 167). A Mn transporter localized in the Golgi apparatus is the secretory pathway Ca2+/ Mn2+ ATPase isoform 1 (SPCA1) encoded by ATP2C1. It is a known Ca2+/ Mn2+ transporter pump and is the only known P-type ATPase having a high affinity to transport Mn²⁺ (168, 169). Silencing of SPCA1 as well as deficiency resulted in an extreme sensitivity to high Mn concentrations (140, 169). SPCA1 carrying specific mutations that could potentially increase its Mn²⁺ pumping activity as the point mutation Q747A has been shown therapeutically useful in the management of manganism (170). Mn has further been shown to induce degradation of GPP130, a membrane protein that cycles between the Golgi and endosomes (171). Therefore, it is suggested that G PP130 may be involved in Mn homeostatic regulation. GPP130 is viewed as a Mn sensor, potentially useful for monitoring Mn levels. SPCA1 is required for Mn to reach the Golgi lumen where it binds to GPP130 and induced GPP130 oligomerization in the Golgi. This

results in sorting to the oligomer and secretion of Mn from the cell (172).

Additional Mn transporters expressed in the Golgi apparatus are HIP14, SLC30A10 as well as calcium channels which have already been described in this review. Additionally, variants in ZIP8 impair the function of a Golgi enzyme essential for biosynthesis of the carbohydrate part of glycoproteins (110, 170). At higher concentrations Mn may not be stored properly in the Golgi apparatus and other organelles may be impacted by Mn. An drug-induced collapse of the Golgi apparatus, results in the striking intracellular redistribution of Mn with Mn accumulation in the cytoplasm and the nucleus (153). This lead to the assumption that the Golgi apparatus might be a storage site and critical target for Mn toxicity and altered functions might be involved in Manganism.

4.3.4. Mitochondria: DMT1, TfR and Ca uniporter

Excess Mn has been reported to disrupt energy production and induce oxidative stress in the mitochondria (173-175). In addition, the highest Mn accumulation rate was observed in the mitochondria of astrocytes and neurons, compared with other organelles after chronic Mn exposure (176). However, the regulation of Mn homeostasis in this organelle remains largely unknown. Mn transporters expressed in the mitochondria include DMT1 in the outer mitochondrial membrane (104), the TfR, Ca transporter as well as citrate transporter (177, 178). Cytosolic Mn²⁺ is imported in the mitochondrial lumen by Ca uniporter, while excessive Mn is supposed to be exported through Na-independent mechanisms (179-181). Gavin et al. (1999) further indicated that a slow efflux of Mn by mitochondria accounts for the excess accumulation of Mn ions in this subcellular organelle (177). Other studies did not observe Mn accumulation in the mitochondria (152, 154).

4.3.5. Nucleus: unknown

From experimental evidences the nucleus is supposed to be the largest intracellular Mn pool. For example, in rat striatum and globus pallidus, the highest Mn level was observed in the heterochromatin and nucleolus, after moderate Mn exposure (176). But to our knowledge there is no mechanistic study to investigate the reason for its high capacity to accumulate Mn. Discussed are hypothesis that Pirin, a highly conserved nuclear protein that is exclusively localized within the nucleoplasm and predominantly concentrated within dot-like sub-nuclear structures, may play a role in Mn transport (154). The highly conserved metal binding site in the N-terminal β -barrel of Pirin may allow Mn to replace Fe and therefore offer a depot for Mn ions (182).

5. SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

In the last decade, research on Mn-related toxicity has advanced the understanding on mechanisms associated with Mn intoxication, providing scientific evidence for Mn regulation and potential therapeutics to treat people with Mn poisoning.

Given that Mn is a required nutrition but also an abundant metal on the earth, every day people have contact with Mn through environmental, occupational and medical exposure routes (Fig. 1). Currently, dietary consumption is the primary Mn exposure route, about 3-5% of ingested Mn is absorbed in blood stream via the GI tract through passive diffusion or active transport, regulated by Mn transporters and Mn binding proteins. Mn absorption via ingestion accounts for the highest Mn amount and is also the safest way. Abnormal Mn uptake though upon in utero exposure, inhalation, intravenous administration and dermal exposure (Fig. 1) can bypass the absorptive regulation afforded by GI tract, exceed the capability of liver elimination or directly deposit in the brain, with ensuing Mn intoxication. Once in the blood stream. Mn is rapidly distributed to different tissues. The liver, bone, pancreas, kidney and brain are the five major organs (from high to low) containing highest Mn level in human body (Fig. 1). Importantly, the brain is the primary target of Mn poisoning although it is not the tissue with the highest Mn concentration. Mn gets delivered in the brain through the blood-brain barrier (BBB), the blood-cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) barrier and the olfactory tract, which is regulated by various Mn transporters. The daily absorption amount usually exceeds the actual need, thus extra Mn has to be eliminated. Fecal hepatobiliary excretion is the primary elimination route, through which excess Mn is conjugated in the bile and excreted in feces. Besides, Mn can be excreted though urine, milk and sweat as well, although the amount is very limited.

As a requisite nutrition at low levels but also a toxicant at high concentrations. Mn in the human body has to be tightly regulated. At the cellular level, this homeostasis is achieved by various types of Mn transporters and regulators. On cell surface, DMT1, TfR, ZIP8/ZIP14, DAT, calcium channels, citrate transporter, choline transporter and ceruloplasmin regulate Mn influx from the cell matrix, while SLC30A10. Fpn and NCX mediate cvtosolic Mn efflux. Intracellularly, the Mn/Tf/TfR complex can be packed in endosomes for endocytosis and finally released into cytosol by endosomal DMT1. On the other hand, PARK9/ATP13A2 transports cytosolic Mn into lysosomes, meanwhile, SPCA1, HIP14, SLC30A10 and calcium channels are able to pack Mn in the Golgi apparatus. Once Mn is sorted out in lysosomes and the Golgi, it is secreted from cells. In addition, the mitochondrion and nucleus are the two organelles



Figure 1. Manganese metabolism and regulation in humans. Human exposure to Mn arises from both natural and anthropogenic sources, including environmental, occupational and medical exposure. Mn enters human body via ingestion, utero exposure, inhalation, intravenous administration and dermal exposure. Once absorbed, Mn enters the blood stream and gets distributed via blood circulation. This process is regulated in various organs including blood, liver, pancreas, kidney, bone as well as the brain. On the cellular level, Mn homeostasis is maintained by both membrane transporters and subcellular transporters. The membrane transporters include importers and exporters. Mn is further subcellular distributed and regulated in endosome, lysosome, Golgi, mitochondria and nucleus. A loss of Mn homeostasis is documented to lead to devastating neurological impairment. This disease, termed as "manganism" shares a similar neuropathology as Parkinson's disease (PD).

with the highest Mn concentrations, and they play a role as Mn pools for its storage. The uptake, efflux and subcellular transport of Mn are facilitated by various transporters to obtain a homeostasis (Fig. 1). However, environmental or genetic risk factors may disrupt this balance and result in Mn intoxication (Fig. 1).

Given the exposure routes, absorption, distribution and elimination of Mn described above, several groups of people are at high risk of Mn poisoning. The first group are neonates. Infants tend to absorb various metals including Mn for their development; however, the elimination system is still developing, thus less capable to extrude excessive Mn. The most important infant foods-formula and milk, both contain significant amounts of Mn, which might be a potential risk and require a new industrial standard. Importantly, premature infants receiving total parental nutrition (TPN) are at highest risk, as they absorb 100% of Mn from TPN. Second, children exposed to high levels of Mn through drinking water or living close to high Mn environment have a higher risk of Mn poisoning as developing children tend to absorb higher levels of Mn. Third, industrial workers performing welding, smelting, mining, manufacture of steel, batteries, glass, ceramics, cosmetics, leather, fireworks and other textiles should be aware of potential risk. Fourth, patients with liver problems, such as hepatic encephalopathy or liver failure, are less capable to eliminate extra Mn. They tend to accumulate Mn in the body even without high environmental exposure. Fifth, people carrying certain genetic mutations, such as SLC30A10, ZIP14, PARK9 and SPCA1, are also at risk of Mn intoxication. Sixth. people under iron deficiency condition tends to have Mn accumulation in their body as iron deficiency will increase the activity of Fe/Mn transporters and upregulate the absorption rate of Mn. Last but not least, methcathinone abusers has become another susceptible group with the spreading of this drug.

Although the toxic effect of Mn in neonates and children has been well-studied in TPN, administration by government to limit Mn contents in infant foods and nutrition supplements remains a contemporary health issue. Establishing standards is of great urgency especially in TPN and potentially in infant formula and milk as well.

While great strides have been made in the past years, the complete picture of Mn metabolism and homeostasis remains to be mapped out. Advanced biomarkers or measuring techniques are needed to monitor body Mn levels, especially for chronic Mn accumulation. As blood Mn is very dynamic and only represents current body Mn levels in a relatively short term, patients with low blood Mn after chelation therapy might still suffer from Mn-induced neurotoxicity due to slow release of Mn from other tissues accumulated in the past. Bone Mn is a good biomarker for this purpose, given that bone stores the largest amount of Mn in human body and bone Mn has a long half-life (skeleton bone 8.5. years). Recent techniques such as in vivo neutron activation analysis (IVNAA) allow non-invasive measurement of bone Mn levels, thus are of great help to access chronic Mn accumulation and monitor Mn levels across developmental stages in children. Brain is the primary target of Mn poisoning. As for regulation of Mn homeostasis, although we have identified a few transporters capable to transport Mn, a large numbers of regulator proteins remain to be identify. Besides. among these known transporters, actually none of them has been proved as a Mn specific transporter. Most of them facilitate couple metal ions influx or efflux with highest affinity to other metals rather than Mn. SLC30A10 could be a potential candidate, but more research is needed to confirm that. In addition, within a cell, the nucleus is the largest Mn storage site with the highest Mn concentration. However, regulation of Mn homeostasis in this organelle remain blank due to very few intracellular transporters identified there. A forward or reverse genetic screen to find these transporters or regulators is of great interest and priority to understand Mn homeostasis in cells and in human body.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Drs. P. Chen and J. Bornhorst contributed equally to this work. The manuscript was supported by NIH grant NIEHS R01 10563 and the "Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft" (DFG) (BO 4103/2-1). This work was further funded by TraceAge - DFG Research Unit on Interactions of essential trace elements in healthy and diseased elderly, Potsdam-Berlin-Jena (FOR 2558/1). The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

7. REFERENCES

 R. A. Yokel: Manganese Flux Across the Blood–Brain Barrier. NeuroMolecular Medicine, 11(4), 297-310 (2009) DOI: 10.1007/s12017-009-8101-2 PMid:19902387

- 2. ATSDR: Toxicological profile for manganese (Draft for Public Comment). U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Service (2012)
- 3. ATSDR: Toxicological profile for manganese (Draft for Public Comment). U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Service (2008)
- 4. J. L. Aschner and M. Aschner: Nutritional aspects of manganese homeostasis. *Molecular Aspects of Medicine*, 26(4–5), 353-362 (2005)
- S. H. Frisbie, R. Ortega, D. M. Maynard and B. Sarkar: The concentrations of arsenic and other toxic elements in Bangladesh's drinking water. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 110(11), 1147-1153 (2002) DOI: 10.1289/ehp.021101147 PMid:12417487 PMCid:PMC1241072
- J. A. ROTH: Homeostatic and toxic mechanisms regulating manganese uptake, retention, and elimination. *Biological Research*, 39, 45-57 (2006) DOI: 10.4067/S0716-97602006000100006 PMid:16629164
- T. R. Guilarte: Manganese and Parkinson's disease: a critical review and new findings. *Environ Health Perspect*, 118(8), 1071-80 (2010) DOI: 10.1289/ehp.0901748 PMid:20403794 PMCid:PMC2920085
- K. Tuschl, P. T. Clayton, S. M. Gospe, Jr., S. Gulab, S. Ibrahim, P. Singhi, R. Aulakh, R. T. Ribeiro, O. G. Barsottini, M. S. Zaki, M. L. Del Rosario, S. Dyack, V. Price, A. Rideout, K. Gordon, R. A. Wevers, W. K. Chong and P. B. Mills: Syndrome of hepatic cirrhosis, dystonia, polycythemia, and hypermanganesemia caused by mutations in SLC30A10, a manganese transporter in man. *Am J Hum Genet*, 90(3), 457-66 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2012.01.018 PMid:22341972 PMCid:PMC3309187
- P. Chen, S. Chakraborty, S. Mukhopadhyay, E. Lee, M. M. B. Paoliello, A. B. Bowman and M. Aschner: Manganese homeostasis in the nervous system. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 134(4), 601-610 (2015) DOI: 10.1111/jnc.13170 PMid:25982296 PMCid:PMC4516557

- W. C. Koller, K. E. Lyons and W. Truly: Effect of levodopa treatment for parkinsonism in welders: A double-blind study. *Neurology*, 62(5), 730-3 (2004) DOI:10.1212/01.WNL.0000113726.34734.15 PMid:15007122
- Y. Jiang and W. Zheng: Cardiovascular Toxicities Upon Manganese Exposure. *Cardiovascular toxicology*, 5(4), 345-354 (2005) DOI: 10.1385/CT:5:4:345
- 12. J. W. Finley, P. E. Johnson and L. K. Johnson: Sex affects manganese absorption and retention by humans from a diet adequate in manganese. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 60(6), 949-55 (1994)
- 13. E. Table and V. Table: Dietary reference intakes for vitamin A, vitamin K, arsenic, boron, chromium, copper, iodine, iron, manganese, molybdenum, nickel, silicon, vanadium, and zinc (2001)
- S. L. O'Neal and W. Zheng: Manganese Toxicity Upon Overexposure: a Decade in Review. *Current Environmental Health Reports*, 2(3), 315-328 (2015) DOI: 10.1007/s40572-015-0056-x PMid:26231508 PMCid:PMC4545267
- 15. J. Greger: Dietary standards for manganese: overlap between nutritional and toxicological studies. *The Journal of nutrition*, 128(2), 368S-371S (1998)
- K. Khan, G. A. Wasserman, X. Liu, E. Ahmed, F. Parvez, V. Slavkovich, D. Levy, J. Mey, A. van Geen and J. H. Graziano: Manganese exposure from drinking water and children's academic achievement. *Neurotoxicology*, 33(1), 91-97 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2011.12.002 PMid:22182530 PMCid:PMC3282923
- L. A. DeSimone, P. A. Hamilton and R. J. Gilliom: Quality of water from domestic wells in principal aquifers of the United States, 1991-2004. US Department of the Interior, US Geological Survey, (2009)
- K. Khan, P. Factor-Litvak, G. A. Wasserman, X. Liu, E. Ahmed, F. Parvez, V. Slavkovich, D. Levy, J. Mey and A. van Geen: Manganese exposure from drinking water and children's classroom behavior in Bangladesh. *Environmental health perspectives*, 119(10), 1501 (2011)

DOI: 10.1289/ehp.1003397 PMid:21493178 PMCid:PMC3230445

- P. Collipp, S. Chen and S. Maitinsky: Manganese in infant formulas and learning disability. *Annals of nutrition and metabolism*, 27(6), 488-494 (1983) DOI: 10.1159/000176724 PMid:6651226
- T. T. Tran, W. Chowanadisai, F. M. Crinella, A. Chicz-DeMet and B. Lönnerdal: Effect of high dietary manganese intake of neonatal rats on tissue mineral accumulation, striatal dopamine levels, and neurodevelopmental status. *Neurotoxicology*, 23(4), 635-643 (2002) DOI: 10.1016/S0161-813X(02)00091-8
- 21. G. Leblondel and P. Allain: Manganese transport by caco-2 cells. *Biological Trace Element Research*, 67(1), 13-28 (1999)
- J. A. Garcia-Aranda, R. A. Wapnir and F. Lifshitz: *In vivo* Intestinal Absorption of Manganese in the Rat. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 113(12), 2601-2607 (1983)
- I. Mena, K. Horiuchi, K. Burke and G. Cotzias: Chronic manganese poisoning Individual susceptibility and absorption of iron. *Neurology*, 19(10), 1000-1000 (1969) DOI: 10.1212/WNL.19.10.1000 PMid:5387706
- S. J. Garcia, K. Gellein, T. Syversen and M. Aschner: Iron Deficient and Manganese Supplemented Diets Alter Metals and Transporters in the Developing Rat Brain. *Toxicological Sciences*, 95(1), 205-214 (2007) DOI: 10.1093/toxsci/kfl139 PMid:17060373
- S. L. Hansen, N. Trakooljul, H.-C. Liu, A. J. Moeser and J. W. Spears: Iron Transporters Are Differentially Regulated by Dietary Iron, and Modifications Are Associated with Changes in Manganese Metabolism in Young Pigs. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 139(8), 1474-1479 (2009) DOI: 10.3945/jn.109.105866 PMid:19535423
- 26. B. Lönnerdal, C. L. Keen and L. S. Hurley: Manganese binding proteins in human and cow's milk. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 41(3), 550-9 (1985)

- 27. L. A. Davidson and B. Lonnerdal: Fesaturation and proteolysis of human lactoferrin: effect on brush-border receptormediated uptake of Fe and Mn. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology*, 257(6), G930-G934 (1989)
- L. Davidsson, A. Cederblad, B. Lönnerdal and B. Sandström: The effect of individual dietary components on manganese absorption in humans. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 54(6), 1065-70 (1991)
- 29. C. D. Davis, L. Zech and J. L. Greger: Manganese metabolism in rats: an improved methodology for assessing gut endogenous losses. *Experimental Biology and Medicine*, 202, 103-108 (1993) DOI: 10.3181/00379727-202-43518
- M. H. Raghib, C. Wai-Yee and M. O. Rennert: Comparative biological availability of manganese from extrinsically labelled milk diets using sucking rats as a model. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 55(1), 49-58 (1986) DOI: 10.1079/BJN19860009 PMid:3663578
- C. L. Keen, J. G. Bell and B. Lonnerdal: The effect of age on manganese uptake and retention from milk and infant formulas in rats. *The Journal of nutrition*, 116(3), 395-402 (1986) DOI: 10.1093/eurpub/ckt033 PMid:23543679
- H. Guan, M. Wang, X. Li, F. Piao, Q. Li, L. Xu, F. Kitamura and K. Yokoyama: Manganese concentrations in maternal and umbilical cord blood: related to birth size and environmental factors. *The European Journal of Public Health*, 24(1), 150-157 (2013)
- A. R. Zota, A. S. Ettinger, M. Bouchard, C. J. Amarasiriwardena, J. Schwartz, H. Hu and R. O. Wright: Maternal blood manganese levels and infant birth weight. *Epidemiology* (*Cambridge, Mass.*), 20(3), 367 (2009)
- 34. X. Yu, L. Cao and X. Yu: Elevated cord serum manganese level is associated with a neonatal high ponderal index. *Environmental research*, 121, 79-83 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.envres.2012.11.002 PMid:23164521

- L. Chen, G. Ding, Y. Gao, P. Wang, R. Shi, H. Huang and Y. Tian: Manganese concentrations in maternal–infant blood and birth weight. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 21(9), 6170-6175 (2014) DOI: 10.1007/s11356-013-2465-4 PMid:24477335
- 36. J. Couper: On the effects of black oxide manganese when inhaled into the lungs. British annals of medicine, pharmacy, vital statistics and general science, 1, 41-42 (1837)
- C. C. Huang, N. S. Chu, C. S. Lu, J. D. Wang, J. L. Tsai, J. L. Tzeng, E. C. Wolters and D. B. Calne: Chronic manganese intoxication. *Arch Neurol*, 46(10), 1104-6 (1989) DOI: 10.1001/archneur.1989.0052046009 0018 PMid:2803069
- R. M. Bowler, V. Gocheva, M. Harris, L. Ngo, N. Abdelouahab, J. Wilkinson, R. L. Doty, R. Park and H. A. Roels: Prospective study on neurotoxic effects in manganeseexposed bridge construction welders. *Neurotoxicology*, 32(5), 596-605 (2011) DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2011.06.004 PMid:21762725
- D. C. Dorman, M. F. Struve, R. A. James, B. E. McManus, M. W. Marshall and B. A. Wong: Influence of Dietary Manganese on the Pharmacokinetics of Inhaled Manganese Sulfate in Male CD Rats. *Toxicological Sciences*, 60(2), 242-251 (2001) DOI: 10.1093/toxsci/60.2.242 PMid:11248135
- R. M. de Bie, R. M. Gladstone, A. P. Strafella, J.-H. Ko and A. E. Lang: Manganeseinduced Parkinsonism associated with methcathinone (Ephedrone) abuse. *Archives of Neurology*, 64(6), 886-889 (2007) DOI: 10.1001/archneur.64.6.886 PMid:17562938
- K. Sikk, S. Haldre, S. M. Aquilonius, A. Asser, M. Paris, Ä. Roose, J. Petterson, S. L. Eriksson, J. Bergquist and P. Taba: Manganese-induced parkinsonism in methcathinone abusers: bio-markers of exposure and follow-up. *European Journal* of Neurology, 20(6), 915-920 (2013) DOI: 10.1111/ene.12088 PMid:23347399

- 42. K. Sikk, S. Haldre, S. M. Aquilonius and P. Taba: Manganese-Induced Parkinsonism due to Ephedrone Abuse. *Parkinsons Dis*, 2011, 865319 (2011)
- K. Sikk, P. Taba, S. Haldre, J. Bergquist, D. Nyholm, H. Askmark, T. Danfors, J. Sörensen, L. Thurfjell and R. Raininko: Clinical, neuroimaging and neurophysiological features in addicts with manganeseephedrone exposure. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 121(4), 237-243 (2010) DOI: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2009.01189.x PMid:20028341
- 44. S. L. O'Neal and W. Zheng: Manganese Toxicity Upon Overexposure: a Decade in Review. *Current Environmental Health Reports*, 2(3), 315-328 (2015) DOI: 10.1007/s40572-015-0056-x PMid:26231508 PMCid:PMC4545267
- L.-L. Zhang, L. Lu, Y.-J. Pan, C.-G. Ding, D.-Y. Xu, C.-F. Huang, X.-F. Pan and W. Zheng: Baseline blood levels of manganese, lead, cadmium, copper, and zinc in residents of Beijing suburb. *Environmental research*, 140, 10-17 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.envres.2015.03.008 PMid:25836720 PMCid:PMC4492836
- 46. R. W. Leggett: A biokinetic model for manganese. *Science of The Total Environment*, 409(20), 4179-4186 (2011) DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.07.003 PMid:21802707
- 47. J. S. Crossgrove and R.A. Yokel: Manganese Distribution Across the Blood–Brain Barrier III: The Divalent Metal Transporter-1 is not the Major Mechanism Mediating Brain Manganese Uptake. *NeuroToxicology*, 25(3), 451-460 (2004) DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2003.10.005 PMid:15019308
- 48. Y. Jiang, W. Zheng, L. Long, W. Zhao, X. Li, X. Mo, J. Lu, X. Fu, W. Li and S. Liu: Brain magnetic resonance imaging and manganese concentrations in red blood cells of smelting workers: search for biomarkers of manganese exposure. *Neurotoxicology*, 28(1), 126-135 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2006.08.005 PMid:16978697 PMCid:PMC3983995
- 49. S. H. Reaney, C. L. Kwik-Uribe and D. R. Smith: Manganese Oxidation State and Its Implications for Toxicity. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 15(9), 1119-1126 (2002)

DOI: 10.1021/tx025525e PMid:12230404

- 50. W. R. Harris and Y. Chen: Electron paramagnetic resonance and difference ultraviolet studies of Mn2+ binding to serum transferrin. *Journal of inorganic biochemistry*, 54(1), 1-19 (1994) DOI: 10.1016/0162-0134(94)85119-0
- V. Nischwitz, A. Berthele and B. Michalke: Speciation analysis of selected metals and determination of their total contents in paired serum and cerebrospinal fluid samples: An approach to investigate the permeability of the human blood-cerebrospinal fluidbarrier. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 627(2), 258-269 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.aca.2008.08.018 PMid:18809082
- 52. T. Jursa and D. R. Smith: Ceruloplasmin Alters the Tissue Disposition and Neurotoxicity of Manganese, but not its Loading onto Transferrin. *Toxicological Sciences*, 107(1), 182-193 (2009) DOI: 10.1093/toxsci/kfn231 PMid:19005224 PMCid:PMC2735423
- T. E. Gunter, B. Gerstner, K. K. Gunter, J. Malecki, R. Gelein, W. M. Valentine, M. Aschner and D. I. Yule: Manganese transport via the transferrin mechanism. *NeuroToxicology*, 34(0), 118-127 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2012.10.018 PMid:23146871 PMCid:PMC3576891
- H. Nam, C.-Y. Wang, L. Zhang, W. Zhang, S. Hojyo, T. Fukada and M. D. Knutson: ZIP14 and DMT1 in the liver, pancreas, and heart are differentially regulated by iron deficiency and overload: implications for tissue iron uptake in iron-related disorders. *Haematologica*, 98(7), 1049-1057 (2013) DOI: 10.3324/haematol.2012.072314 PMid:23349308 PMCid:PMC3696608
- 55. P. Aisen, A. Leibman and J. Zweier: Stoichiometric and site characteristics of the binding of iron to human transferrin. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 253(6), 1930-1937 (1978)
- 56. T. Moos and E. Morgan: Transferrin and Transferrin Receptor Function in Brain Barrier Systems. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology*, 20(1), 77-95 (2000) DOI: 10.1023/A:1006948027674 PMid:10690503

- 57. S. Jenkitkasemwong, C.-Y. Wang, B. Mackenzie and M. Knutson: Physiologic implications of metal-ion transport by ZIP14 and ZIP8. *BioMetals*, 25(4), 643-655 (2012) DOI: 10.1007/s10534-012-9526-x PMid:22318508 PMCid:PMC4598647
- K. Inoue, L. Zhuang, D. M. Maddox, S. B. Smith and V. Ganapathy: Structure, Function, and Expression Pattern of a Novel Sodium-coupled Citrate Transporter (NaCT) Cloned from Mammalian Brain. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(42), 39469-39476 (2002) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M207072200 PMid:12177002
- M. Quadri, A. Federico, T. Zhao, Guido J. Breedveld, C. Battisti, C. Delnooz, L.-A. Severijnen, L. Di Toro Mammarella, A. Mignarri, L. Monti, A. Sanna, P. Lu, F. Punzo, G. Cossu, R. Willemsen, F. Rasi, Ben A. Oostra, Bart P. van de Warrenburg and V. Bonifati: Mutations in SLC30A10 Cause Parkinsonism and Dystonia with Hypermanganesemia, Polycythemia, and Chronic Liver Disease. *The American Journal of Human Genetics*, 90(3), 467-477 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2012.01.017

PMid:22341971 PMCid:PMC3309204

- A. Donovan, C. A. Lima, J. L. Pinkus, G. S. Pinkus, L. I. Zon, S. Robine and N. C. Andrews: The iron exporter ferroportin/ Slc40a1 is essential for iron homeostasis. *Cell Metabolism*, 1(3), 191-200 (2005) DOI: 10.1016/j.cmet.2005.01.003 PMid:16054062
- S. Leitch, M. Feng, S. Muend, L. T. Braiterman, A. L. Hubbard and R. Rao: Vesicular distribution of Secretory Pathway Ca2+-ATPase isoform 1 and a role in manganese detoxification in liver-derived polarized cells. *BioMetals*, 24(1), 159-170 (2011) DOI: 10.1007/s10534-010-9384-3 PMid:20981470 PMCid:PMC3238027
- 62. H. A. Schroeder, J. J. Balassa and I. H. Tipton: Essential trace metals in man: manganese, a study in homeostasis. *J. Chron. Dis.*, 19, 545-571 (1996)
- 63. R. Rahil-Khazen, B. J. Bolann, A. Myking and R. J. Ulvik: Multi-element analysis of trace element levels in human autopsy tissues by using inductively coupled atomic emission spectrometry technique (ICP-AES). Journal of Trace Elements in

Medicine and Biology, 16(1), 15-25 (2002) DOI: 10.1016/S0946-672X(02)80004-9

- 64. A. Pejović-Milić, D. R. Chettle, J. Oudyk, M. W. Pysklywec and T. Haines: Bone manganese as a biomarker of manganese exposure: a feasibility study. *American journal of industrial medicine*, 52(10), 742-750 (2009) DOI: 10.1002/ajim.20737 PMid:19753565
- S. L. O'Neal, L. Hong, S. Fu, W. Jiang, A. Jones, L. H. Nie and W. Zheng: Manganese accumulation in bone following chronic exposure in rats: Steady-state concentration and half-life in bone. *Toxicology Letters*, 229(1), 93-100 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1016/j.toxlet.2014.06.019
 PMid:24930841 PMCid:PMC4126163
- H. Kodama, N. Shimojo and K. T. Suzuki: Distribution of manganese in rat pancreas and identification of its primary binding protein as pro-carboxypeptidase B. *Biochemical Journal*, 278(Pt 3), 857-862 (1991)
- 67. P. Rorsman, P.-O. Berggren and B. Hellman: Manganese accumulation in pancreatic β-cells and its stimulation by glucose. *Biochemical Journal*, 202(2), 435-444 (1982)
 DOI: 10.1042/bj2020435
 PMid:7046732 PMCid:PMC1158128
- E. S. Koh, S. J. Kim, H. E. Yoon, J. H. Chung, S. Chung, C. W. Park, Y. S. Chang and S. J. Shin: Association of blood manganese level with diabetes and renal dysfunction: a cross-sectional study of the Korean general population. *BMC Endocrine Disorders*, 14(1), 24 (2014)
- T. Ponnapakkam, M. Iszard and G. Henry-Sam: Effects of oral administration of manganese on the kidneys and urinary bladder of Sprague-Dawley rats. *International journal of toxicology*, 22(3), 227-232 (2003) DOI: 10.1080/10915810305103 PMid:12851155
- 70. H. Fujishiro, Y. Yano, Y. Takada, M. Tanihara and S. Himeno: Roles of ZIP8, ZIP14, and DMT1 in transport of cadmium and manganese in mouse kidney proximal tubule cells. *Metallomics*, 4(7), 700-708 (2012) DOI: 10.1039/c2mt20024d PMid:22534978

- A. Uchino, T. Noguchi, K. Nomiyama, Y. Takase, T. Nakazono, J. Nojiri and S. Kudo: Manganese accumulation in the brain: MR imaging. *Neuroradiology*, 49(9), 715-720 (2007) DOI: 10.1007/s00234-007-0243-z PMid:17624522
- G. Robison, T. Zakharova, S. Fu, W. Jiang, R. Fulper, R. Barrea, M. A. Marcus, W. Zheng and Y. Pushkar: X-Ray Fluorescence Imaging: A New Tool for Studying Manganese Neurotoxicity. *PLOS ONE*, 7(11), e48899 (2012) DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0048899 PMid:23185282 PMCid:PMC3501493
- 73. N. J. Abbott and A. Friedman: Overview and introduction: the blood-brain barrier in health and disease. *Epilepsia*, 53 Suppl 6, 1-6 (2012) DOI: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2012.03696.x PMid:23134489 PMCid:PMC3625728
- 74. N. Strazielle and J. F. Ghersi-Egea: Choroid plexus in the central nervous system: biology and physiopathology. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol*, 59(7), 561-74 (2000) DOI: 10.1093/jnen/59.7.561 PMid:10901227
- 75. R. A. Yokel: Manganese flux across the blood-brain barrier. *Neuromolecular Med*, 11(4), 297-310 (2009)
 DOI: 10.1007/s12017-009-8101-2
 PMid:19902387
- 76. J. Bornhorst, C. A. Wehe, S. Huwel, U. Karst, H. J. Galla and T. Schwerdtle: Impact of manganese on and transfer across blood-brain and blood-cerebrospinal fluid barrier *in vitro*. *J Biol Chem*, 287(21), 17140-51 (2012) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M112.344093 PMid:22457347 PMCid:PMC3366805
- L. L. Rubin and J. M. Staddon: The cell biology of the blood-brain barrier. *Annu Rev Neurosci*, 22, 11-28 (1999) DOI: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.22.1.11 PMid:10202530
- 78. M. Yoon, J. D. Schroeter, A. Nong, M. D. Taylor, D. C. Dorman, M. E. Andersen and H. J. Clewell, 3rd: Physiologically based pharmacokinetic modeling of fetal and neonatal manganese exposure in humans: describing manganese homeostasis during development. *Toxicol Sci*, 122(2), 297-316 (2011)

DOI: 10.1093/toxsci/kfr141 PMid:21622944

- 79. J. Henriksson and H. Tjalve: Manganese taken up into the CNS via the olfactory pathway in rats affects astrocytes. *Toxicol Sci*, 55(2), 392-8 (2000) DOI: 10.1093/toxsci/55.2.392 PMid:10828272
- L. Davidsson, Å. Cederblad, B. Lönnerdal and B. Sandström: Manganese absorption from human milk, cow's milk, and infant formulas in humans. *American Journal* of *Diseases of Children*, 143(7), 823-827 (1989)
 DOI: 10.1001/archpedi.1989.0215019007 3024
- 81. C. D. Klaassen: Biliary excretion of metals. *Drug Metabolism Reviews*, 5(2), 165-196 (1976) DOI: 10.3109/03602537609029977 PMid:802467
- 82. D. Stastny, R. S. Vogel and M. Picciano: Manganese intake and serum manganese concentration of human milk-fed and formula-fed infants. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*, 39(6), 872-878 (1984)
- F. O. Omokhodion and J. M. Howard: Trace elements in the sweat of acclimatized persons. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 231(1), 23-28 (1994) DOI: 10.1016/0009-8981(94)90250-X
- 84. J. Zhu, E. M. Gale, I. Atanasova, T. A. Rietz and P. Caravan: Hexameric MnII dendrimer as MRI contrast agent. *Chemistry-A European Journal*, 20(44), 14507-14513 (2014)
 DOI: 10.1002/chem.201403883
 PMid:25224391 PMCid:PMC4260332
- A. B. Bowman, G. F. Kwakye, E. Herrero Hernandez and M. Aschner: Role of manganese in neurodegenerative diseases. *J Trace Elem Med Biol*, 25(4), 191-203 (2011) DOI: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2011.08.144 PMid:21963226 PMCid:PMC3230726
- 86. V. Nischwitz, A. Berthele and B. Michalke: Speciation analysis of selected metals and determination of their total contents in paired serum and cerebrospinal fluid samples: An approach to investigate the permeability of the human blood-cerebrospinal fluid-barrier. *Anal Chim Acta*, 627(2), 258-69 (2008)

DOI: 10.1016/j.aca.2008.08.018 PMid:18809082

- 87. T. V. Peres, M. R. Schettinger, P. Chen, F. Carvalho, D. S. Avila, A. B. Bowman and M. Aschner: "Manganese-induced neurotoxicity: a review of its behavioral consequences and neuroprotective strategies". BMC Pharmacol Toxicol, 17(1), 57 (2016) DOI: 10.1186/s40360-016-0099-0 PMid:27814772 PMCid:PMC5097420
- 88. J. S. Crossgrove, D. D. Allen, B. L. Bukaveckas, S. S. Rhineheimer and R. A. Yokel: Manganese distribution across the blood-brain barrier. I. Evidence for carriermediated influx of managanese citrate as well as manganese and manganese transferrin. Neurotoxicology, 24(1), 3-13 (2003)

DOI: 10.1016/S0161-813X(02)00089-X

- 89. B. Michalke: Review about the manganese speciation project related to neurodegeneration: An analytical chemistry approach to increase the knowledge about manganese related parkinsonian symptoms. J Trace Elem Med Biol. 37. 50-61 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2016.03.002 PMid:27006066
- 90. R. A. Yokel: Brain uptake, retention, and efflux of aluminum and manganese. Environ Health Perspect, 110 Suppl 5, 699-704 (2002) DOI: 10.1289/ehp.02110s5699
- 91. B. Michalke, M. Lucio, A. Berthele and B. Kanawati: Manganese speciation in paired serum and CSF samples using SEC-DRC-ICP-MS and CE-ICP-DRC-MS. Anal Bioanal Chem, 405(7), 2301-9 (2013) DOI: 10.1007/s00216-012-6662-7 PMid:23325402
- 92. B. Michalke, L. Aslanoglou, M. Ochsenkuhn-Petropoulou, B. Bergstrom, A. Berthele, M. Vinceti, M. Lucio and G. Liden: An approach for manganese biomonitoring using a manganese carrier switch in serum from transferrin to citrate at slightly elevated manganese concentration. J Trace Elem Med Biol, 32, 145-54 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2015.07.006 PMid:26302922
- 93. L. Davidsson, B. Lonnerdal, B. Sandstrom. C. Kunz and C. L. Keen: Identification of

transferrin as the major plasma carrier protein for manganese introduced orally or intravenously or after in vitro addition in the rat. J Nutr, 119(10), 1461-4 (1989) DOI: 10.1016/0361-9230(90)90152-P

- 94. M. Aschner and J. L. Aschner: Manganese transport across the blood-brain barrier: relationship to iron homeostasis. Brain Res Bull, 24(6), 857-60 (1990)
- 95. T. Moos and E. H. Morgan: Transferrin and transferrin receptor function in brain barrier systems. Cell Mol Neurobiol, 20(1), 77-95 (2000)DOI: 10.1023/A:1006948027674 PMid:10690503
- 96. K. K. Kumar, E. W. Lowe, Jr., A. A. Aboud, M. D. Neely, R. Redha, J. A. Bauer, M. Odak, C. D. Weaver, J. Meiler, M. Aschner and A. B. Bowman: Cellular manganese content is developmentally regulated in human dopaminergic neurons. Sci Rep. 4, 6801 (2014)
- 97. C. Heltianu, G. Serban, V. Alexandru, A. Gafencu, N. Simionescu and M. Simionescu: Expression of transferrin receptors in endothelial cells transfected by electroporation. Eur J Cell Biol, 72(1), 79-89 (1997)
- 98. G. J. Li, Q. Zhao and W. Zheng: Alteration at translational but not transcriptional level of transferrin receptor expression following manganese exposure at the blood-CSF barrier in vitro. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 205(2), 188-200 (2005) DOI: 10.1016/j.taap.2004.10.003 PMid:15893546 PMCid:PMC3980884
- 99. X. Wang, D. S. Miller and W. Zheng: Intracellular localization and subsequent redistribution of metal transporters in a rat choroid plexus model following exposure to manganese or iron. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol, 230(2), 167-74 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.taap.2008.02.024 PMid:18420243 PMCid:PMC2586425
- 100. M. D. Garrick, S. T. Singleton, F. Vargas, H. C. Kuo, L. Zhao, M. Knopfel, T. Davidson, M. Costa, P. Paradkar, J. A. Roth and L. M. Garrick: DMT1: which metals does it transport? Biol Res, 39(1), 79-85 (2006)
- 101. I.A. Ehrnstorfer, C. Manatschal, F. M. Arnold, J. Laederach and R. Dutzler: Structural and mechanistic basis of proton-coupled metal

ion transport in the SLC11/NRAMP family. *Nat Commun*, 8, 14033 (2017)

- 102. T. Skjorringe, A. Burkhart, K. B. Johnsen and T. Moos: Divalent metal transporter 1 (DMT1) in the brain: implications for a role in iron transport at the blood-brain barrier, and neuronal and glial pathology. *Front Mol Neurosci*, 8, 19 (2015)
- 103. E. Huang, W. Y. Ong and J. R. Connor: Distribution of divalent metal transporter-1 in the monkey basal ganglia. *Neuroscience*, 128(3), 487-96 (2004) DOI: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2004.06.055 PMid:15381278
- 104. N. A. Wolff, A. J. Ghio, L. M. Garrick, M. D. Garrick, L. Zhao, R. A. Fenton and F. Thevenod: Evidence for mitochondrial localization of divalent metal transporter 1 (DMT1). *FASEB J*, 28(5), 2134-45 (2014) DOI: 10.1096/fj.13-240564 PMid:24448823
- 105. M. Aschner, T. R. Guilarte, J. S. Schneider and W. Zheng: Manganese: recent advances in understanding its transport and neurotoxicity. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 221(2), 131-47 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.taap.2007.03.001 PMid:17466353 PMCid:PMC1950780
- 106. X. Wang, G. J. Li and W. Zheng: Upregulation of DMT1 expression in choroidal epithelia of the blood-CSF barrier following manganese exposure *in vitro*. *Brain Res*, 1097(1), 1-10 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/j.brainres.2006.04.046 PMid:16729984 PMCid:PMC3980874
- 107. J. S. Crossgrove and R.A. Yokel: Manganese distribution across the blood-brain barrier III. The divalent metal transporter-1 is not the major mechanism mediating brain manganese uptake. *Neurotoxicology*, 25(3), 451-60 (2004) DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2003.10.005 PMid:15019308
- 108. V. A. Fitsanakis, N. Zhang, S. Garcia and M. Aschner: Manganese (Mn) and iron (Fe): interdependency of transport and regulation. *Neurotox Res*, 18(2), 124-31 (2010) DOI: 10.1007/s12640-009-9130-1 PMid:19921534
- 109. H. Fujishiro, M. Doi, S. Enomoto and S. Himeno: High sensitivity of RBL-2H3 cells

to cadmium and manganese: an implication of the role of ZIP8. *Metallomics*, 3(7), 710-8 (2011) DOI: 10.1039/c1mt00020a PMid:21509381

- J. H. Park, M. Hogrebe, M. Gruneberg, I. DuChesne, A. L. von der Heiden, J. Reunert, K. P. Schlingmann, K. M. Boycott, C. L. Beaulieu, A. A. Mhanni, A. M. Innes, K. Hurtnagel, S. Biskup, E. M. Gleixner, G. Kurlemann, B. Fiedler, H. Omran, F. Rutsch, Y. Wada, K. Tsiakas, R. Santer, D. W. Nebert, S. Rust and T. Marquardt: SLC39A8 Deficiency: A Disorder of Manganese Transport and Glycosylation. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 97(6), 894-903 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2015.11.003 PMid:26637979 PMCid:PMC4678430
- 111. L. He, K. Girijashanker, T. P. Dalton, J. Reed, H. Li, M. Soleimani and D. W. Nebert: ZIP8, member of the solute-carrier-39 (SLC39) metal-transporter family: characterization of transporter properties. *Mol Pharmacol*, 70(1), 171-80 (2006) DOI: 10.1124/mol.106.024521
- 112. K. Girijashanker, L. He, M. Soleimani, J. M. Reed, H. Li, Z. Liu, B. Wang, T. P. Dalton and D. W. Nebert: Slc39a14 gene encodes ZIP14, a metal/bicarbonate symporter: similarities to the ZIP8 transporter. *Mol Pharmacol*, 73(5), 1413-23 (2008) DOI: 10.1124/mol.107.043588 PMid:18270315 PMCid:PMC2753210
- 113. S. Jenkitkasemwong, C. Y. Wang, B. Mackenzie and M. D. Knutson: Physiologic implications of metal-ion transport by ZIP14 and ZIP8. *Biometals*, 25(4), 643-55 (2012) DOI: 10.1007/s10534-012-9526-x PMid:22318508 PMCid:PMC4598647
- 114. W. Lin, D. R. Vann, P. T. Doulias, T. Wang, G. Landesberg, X. Li, E. Ricciotti, R. Scalia, M. He, N. J. Hand and D. J. Rader: Hepatic metal ion transporter ZIP8 regulates manganese homeostasis and manganesedependent enzyme activity. *J Clin Invest*, 127(6), 2407-2417 (2017) DOI: 10.1172/JCI90896 PMid:28481222 PMCid:PMC5451243
- K. Tuschl, E. Meyer, L. E. Valdivia, N. Zhao, C. Dadswell, A. Abdul-Sada, C. Y. Hung, M. A. Simpson, W. K. Chong, T. S. Jacques, R. L. Woltjer, S. Eaton, A. Gregory, L. Sanford, E. Kara, H. Houlden, S. M. Cuno,

H. Prokisch, L. Valletta, V. Tiranti, R. Younis, E. R. Maher, J. Spencer, A. Straatman-Iwanowska, P. Gissen, L. A. Selim, G. Pintos-Morell, W. Coroleu-Lletget, S. S. Mohammad, S. Yoganathan, R. C. Dale, M. Thomas, J. Rihel, O. A. Bodamer, C. A. Enns, S. J. Hayflick, P. T. Clayton, P. B. Mills, M. A. Kurian and S. W. Wilson: Mutations in SLC39A14 disrupt manganese homeostasis and cause childhood-onset parkinsonismdystonia. *Nat Commun*, 7, 11601 (2016)

- 116. T. B. Aydemir, M. H. Kim, J. Kim, L. M. Colon-Perez, G. Banan, T. H. Mareci, M. Febo and R. J. Cousins: Metal Transporter Zip14 (Slc39a14) Deletion in Mice Increases Manganese Deposition and Produces Neurotoxic Signatures and Diminished Motor Activity. *J Neurosci*, 37(25), 5996-6006 (2017) DOI: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0285-17.2017 PMid:28536273
- 117. Y. V. Kim, F. Di Cello, C. S. Hillaire and K. S. Kim: Differential Ca2+ signaling by thrombin and protease-activated receptor-1-activating peptide in human brain microvascular endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 286(1), C31-42 (2004)
- 118. K. J. Horning, S. W. Caito, K. G. Tipps, A. B. Bowman and M. Aschner: Manganese Is Essential for Neuronal Health. *Annu Rev Nutr*, 35, 71-108 (2015)
 DOI: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-071714-034419 PMid:25974698
- 119. T. Ducic, E. Barski, M. Salome, J. C. Koch, M. Bahr and P. Lingor: X-ray fluorescence analysis of iron and manganese distribution in primary dopaminergic neurons. *J Neurochem*, 124(2), 250-61 (2013) DOI: 10.1111/jnc.12073 PMid:23106162 PMCid:PMC3563009
- 120. C. M. Lucaciu, C. Dragu, L. Copaescu and V. V. Morariu: Manganese transport through human erythrocyte membranes. An EPR study. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1328(2), 90-8 (1997) DOI: 10.1016/S0005-2736(97)00039-4
- 121. K. M. Streifel, J. Miller, R. Mouneimne and R. B. Tjalkens: Manganese inhibits ATP-induced calcium entry through the transient receptor potential channel TRPC3 in astrocytes. *Neurotoxicology*, 34, 160-6 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2012.10.014 PMid:23131343 PMCid:PMC3557543

- 122. B. J. Ciliax, C. Heilman, L. L. Demchyshyn, Z. B. Pristupa, E. Ince, S. M. Hersch, H. B. Niznik and A. I. Levey: The dopamine transporter: immunochemical characterization and localization in brain. *J Neurosci*, 15(3 Pt 1), 1714-23 (1995)
- 123. M. K. Chen, J. S. Lee, J. L. McGlothan, E. Furukawa, R. J. Adams, M. Alexander, D. F. Wong and T. R. Guilarte: Acute manganese administration alters dopamine transporter levels in the non-human primate striatum. *Neurotoxicology*, 27(2), 229-36 (2006) DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2005.10.008 PMid:16325911
- 124. K. M. Erikson, C. E. John, S. R. Jones and M. Aschner: Manganese accumulation in striatum of mice exposed to toxic doses is dependent upon a functional dopamine transporter. *Environ Toxicol Pharmacol*, 20(3), 390-4 (2005) DOI: 10.1016/j.etap.2005.03.009 PMid:21783617
- 125. J. G. Anderson, P. T. Cooney and K. M. Erikson: Inhibition of DAT function attenuates manganese accumulation in the globus pallidus. *Environ Toxicol Pharmacol*, 23(2), 179-84 (2007) DOI: 10.1016/j.etap.2006.08.006 PMid:17387379 PMCid:PMC1832113
- 126. C. C. Huang, Y. H. Weng, C. S. Lu, N. S. Chu and T. C. Yen: Dopamine transporter binding in chronic manganese intoxication. *J Neurol*, 250(11), 1335-9 (2003) DOI: 10.1007/s00415-003-0214-1 PMid:14648150
- 127. J. A. Roth, Z. Li, S. Sridhar and H. Khoshbouei: The effect of manganese on dopamine toxicity and dopamine transporter (DAT) in control and DAT transfected HEK cells. *Neurotoxicology*, 35, 121-8 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2013.01.002 PMid:23313730 PMCid:PMC3602316
- 128. P. Bagga and A. B. PaTel: Regional cerebral metabolism in mouse under chronic manganese exposure: implications for manganism. *Neurochem Int*, 60(2), 177-85 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.neuint.2011.10.016 PMid:22107705
- 129. P. R. Lockman, K. E. Roder and D. D. Allen: Inhibition of the rat blood-brain barrier choline transporter by manganese chloride. *J Neurochem*, 79(3), 588-94 (2001)

DOI: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.2001.00589.x PMid:11701762

- T. Ducic, E. Carboni, B. Lai, S. Chen, B. Michalke, D. F. Lazaro, T. F. Outeiro, M. Bahr, E. Barski and P. Lingor: Alpha-Synuclein Regulates Neuronal Levels of Manganese and Calcium. ACS Chem Neurosci, 6(10), 1769-79 (2015) DOI: 10.1021/acschemneuro.5b00093 PMid:26284970
- 131. R. A. Gibbons, S. N. Dixon, K. Hallis, A. M. Russell, B. F. Sansom and H. W. Symonds: Manganese metabolism in cows and goats. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 444(1), 1-10 (1976) DOI: 10.1016/0304-4165(76)90218-X
- 132. T. Jursa and D. R. Smith: Ceruloplasmin alters the tissue disposition and neurotoxicity of manganese, but not its loading onto transferrin. *Toxicol Sci*, 107(1), 182-93 (2009)
 DOI: 10.1093/toxsci/kfn231
 PMid:19005224 PMCid:PMC2735423
- 133. L. J. Wu, A. G. Leenders, S. Cooperman, E. Meyron-Holtz, S. Smith, W. Land, R. Y. Tsai, U. V. Berger, Z. H. Sheng and T. A. Rouault: Expression of the iron transporter ferroportin in synaptic vesicles and the blood-brain barrier. *Brain Res*, 1001(1-2), 108-17 (2004)
- 134. Z. Yin, H. Jiang, E. S. Lee, M. Ni, K. M. Erikson, D. Milatovic, A. B. Bowman and M. Aschner: Ferroportin is a manganeseresponsive protein that decreases manganese cytotoxicity and accumulation. *J Neurochem*, 112(5), 1190-8 (2010) DOI: 10.1111/j.1471-4159.2009.06534.x PMid:20002294 PMCid:PMC2819584
- M. S. Madejczyk and N. Ballatori: The iron transporter ferroportin can also function as a manganese exporter. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1818(3), 651-7 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2011.12.002 PMid:22178646 PMCid:PMC5695046
- 136. B. Y. Park and J. Chung: Effects of various metal ions on the gene expression of iron exporter ferroportin-1 in J774 macrophages. *Nutr Res Pract*, 2(4), 317-21 (2008) DOI: 10.4162/nrp.2008.2.4.317 PMid:20016736 PMCid:PMC2788185
- 137. Y. A. Seo and M. Wessling-Resnick: Ferroportin deficiency impairs manganese

metabolism in flatiron mice. *FASEB J*, 29(7), 2726-33 (2015) DOI: 10.1096/fj.14-262592 PMid:25782988 PMCid:PMC4478796

- 138. S. Chakraborty, P. Chen, J. Bornhorst, T. Schwerdtle, F. Schumacher, B. Kleuser, A. B. Bowman and M. Aschner: Loss of pdr-1/ parkin influences Mn homeostasis through altered ferroportin expression in C. elegans. *Metallomics*, 7(5), 847-56 (2015) DOI: 10.1039/C5MT00052A PMid:25769119 PMCid:PMC4431931
- 139. S. Hutchens, C. Liu, T. Jursa, W. Shawlot, B. K. Chaffee, W. Yin, A. C. Gore, M. Aschner, D. R. Smith and S. Mukhopadhyay: Deficiency in the manganese efflux transporter SLC30A10 induces severe hypothyroidism in mice. *J Biol Chem*, 292(23), 9760-9773 (2017)
 DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M117.783605
 PMid:28461334
- 140. Y. Nishito, N. Tsuji, H. Fujishiro, T. A. Takeda, T. Yamazaki, F. Teranishi, F. Okazaki, A. Matsunaga, K. Tuschl, R. Rao, S. Kono, H. Miyajima, H. Narita, S. Himeno and T. Kambe: Direct Comparison of Manganese Detoxification/Efflux Proteins and Molecular Characterization of ZnT10 Protein as a Manganese Transporter. *J Biol Chem*, 291(28), 14773-87 (2016) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M116.728014 PMid:27226609 PMCid:PMC4938194
- 141. C. E. Zogzas, M. Aschner and S. Mukhopadhyay: Structural Elements in the Transmembrane and Cytoplasmic Domains of the Metal Transporter SLC30A10 Are Required for Its Manganese Efflux Activity. *J Biol Chem*, 291(31), 15940-57 (2016) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M116.726935 PMid:27307044 PMCid:PMC4965547
- 142. E. Ng, P. M. Lind, C. Lindgren, E. Ingelsson, A. Mahajan, A. Morris and L. Lind: Genomewide association study of toxic metals and trace elements reveals novel associations. *Hum Mol Genet*, 24(16), 4739-45 (2015) DOI: https://doi.org/10.1093/hmg/ddv190 PMid:26025379 PMCid:PMC4512629
- 143. D. Leyva-Illades, P. Chen, C. E. Zogzas, S. Hutchens, J. M. Mercado, C. D. Swaim, R. A. Morrisett, A. B. Bowman, M. Aschner and S. Mukhopadhyay: SLC30A10 is a cell surface-localized manganese efflux transporter, and parkinsonism-causing mutations block its intracellular trafficking

and efflux activity. *J Neurosci*, 34(42), 14079-95 (2014) DOI: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2329-14.2014 PMid:25319704 PMCid:PMC4198546

- 144. M. Quadri, A. Federico, T. Zhao, G. J. Breedveld, C. Battisti, C. Delnooz, L. A. Severijnen, L. Di Toro Mammarella, A. Mignarri, L. Monti, A. Sanna, P. Lu, F. Punzo, G. Cossu, R. Willemsen, F. Rasi, B. A. Oostra, B. P. van de Warrenburg and V. Bonifati: Mutations in SLC30A10 cause parkinsonism and dystonia with hypermanganesemia, polycythemia, and chronic liver disease. *Am J Hum Genet*, 90(3), 467-77 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2012.01.017 PMid:22341971 PMCid:PMC3309204
- 145. K. Tuschl, P. B. Mills, H. Parsons, M. Malone, D. Fowler, M. Bitner-Glindzicz and P. T. Clayton: Hepatic cirrhosis, dystonia, polycythaemia and hypermanganesaemia-a new metabolic disorder. *J Inherit Metab Dis*, 31(2), 151-63 (2008)
 DOI: 10.1007/s10545-008-0813-1
 PMid:18392750
- 146. M. Quadri, M. Kamate, S. Sharma, S. Olgiati, J. Graafland, G. J. Breedveld, I. Kori, V. Hattiholi, P. Jain, S. Aneja, A. Kumar, P. Gulati, M. Goel, B. Talukdar and V. Bonifati: Manganese transport disorder: novel SLC30A10 mutations and early phenotypes. *Mov Disord*, 30(7), 996-1001 (2015) DOI: 10.1002/mds.26202 PMid:25778823
- 147. K. Mukhtiar, S. Ibrahim, K. Tuschl and P. Mills: Hypermanganesemia with Dystonia, Polycythemia and Cirrhosis (HMDPC) due to mutation in the SLC30A10 gene. *Brain Dev*, 38(9), 862-5 (2016) DOI: 10.1016/j.braindev.2016.04.005 PMid:27117033
- 148. B. Waghorn, A. Schumacher, J. Liu, S. Jacobs, A. Baba, T. Matsuda, N. Yanasak and T. C. Hu: Indirectly probing Ca(2+) handling alterations following myocardial infarction in a murine model using T(1)-mapping manganese-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging. *Magn Reson Med*, 65(1), 239-49 (2011) DOI: 10.1002/mrm.22597 PMid:20872864
- 149. B. Waghorn, Y. Yang, A. Baba, T. Matsuda,A. Schumacher, N. Yanasak and T. C.Hu: Assessing manganese efflux using

SEA0400 and cardiac T1-mapping manganese-enhanced MRI in a murine model. *NMR Biomed*, 22(8), 874-81 (2009) DOI: 10.1002/nbm.1414 PMid:19593760

- 150. Y. Chen, K. Payne, V. S. Perara, S. Huang, A. Baba, T. Matsuda and X. Yu: Inhibition of the sodium-calcium exchanger via SEA0400 altered manganese-induced T1 changes in isolated perfused rat hearts. *NMR Biomed*, 25(11), 1280-5 (2012) DOI: 10.1002/nbm.2799 PMid:22434695 PMCid:PMC3522749
- 151. A. M. Tidball, M. R. Bryan, M. A. Uhouse, K. K. Kumar, A. A. Aboud, J. E. Feist, K. C. Ess, M. D. Neely, M. Aschner and A. B. Bowman: A novel manganese-dependent ATM-p53 signaling pathway is selectively impaired in patient-based neuroprogenitor and murine striatal models of Huntington's disease. *Hum Mol Genet*, 24(7), 1929-44 (2015) DOI: 10.1093/hmg/ddu609 PMid:25489053 PMCid:PMC4355025
- 152. G. Robison, B. Sullivan, J. R. Cannon and Y. Pushkar: Identification of dopaminergic neurons of the substantia nigra pars compacta as a target of manganese accumulation. *Metallomics*, 7(5), 748-55 (2015)
 DOI: 10.1039/C5MT00023H
 PMid:25695229 PMCid:PMC4594222
- 153. A. Carmona, S. Roudeau, L. Perrin, G. Veronesi and R. Ortega: Environmental manganese compounds accumulate as Mn(II) within the Golgi apparatus of dopamine cells: relationship between speciation, subcellular distribution, and cytotoxicity. *Metallomics*, 6(4), 822-32 (2014) DOI: 10.1039/c4mt00012a PMid:24549144
- 154. K. Kalia, W. Jiang and W. Zheng: Manganese accumulates primarily in nuclei of cultured brain cells. *Neurotoxicology*, 29(3), 466-70 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2008.02.012 PMid:18400301 PMCid:PMC2497426
- 155. S. Zhang, J. Fu and Z. Zhou: *In vitro* effect of manganese chloride exposure on reactive oxygen species generation and respiratory chain complexes activities of mitochondria isolated from rat brain. *Toxicol In vitro*, 18(1), 71-7 (2004) DOI: 10.1016/j.tiv.2003.09.002 PMid:14630064

1676

- 156. M. Morello, A. Canini, P. Mattioli, R. P. Sorge, A. Alimonti, B. Bocca, G. Forte, A. Martorana, G. Bernardi and G. Sancesario: Sub-cellular localization of manganese in the basal ganglia of normal and manganese-treated rats An electron spectroscopy imaging and electron energyloss spectroscopy study. *Neurotoxicology*, 29(1), 60-72 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2007.09.001 PMid:17936361
- 157. K. Tuschl, P. B. Mills and P. T. Clayton: Manganese and the brain. *Int Rev Neurobiol*, 110, 277-312 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/B978-0-12-410502-7.00013-2 PMid:24209443
- 158. S. M. Fleming, N. A. Santiago, E. J. Mullin, S. Pamphile, S. Karkare, A. Lemkuhl, O. R. Ekhator, S. C. Linn, J. G. Holden, D. S. Aga, J. A. Roth, B. Liou, Y. Sun, G. E. Shull and P. J. Schultheis: The effect of manganese exposure in Atp13a2-deficient mice. *Neurotoxicology* (2017)
- L. Santoro, G. J. Breedveld, F. Manganelli, R. Iodice, C. Pisciotta, M. Nolano, F. Punzo, M. Quarantelli, S. Pappata, A. Di Fonzo, B. A. Oostra and V. Bonifati: Novel ATP13A2 (PARK9) homozygous mutation in a family with marked phenotype variability. *Neurogenetics*, 12(1), 33-9 (2011) DOI: 10.1007/s10048-010-0259-0 PMid:20853184 PMCid:PMC3029807
- 160. A. D. Gitler, A. Chesi, M. L. Geddie, K. E. Strathearn, S. Hamamichi, K. J. Hill, K. A. Caldwell, G. A. Caldwell, A. A. Cooper, J. C. Rochet and S. Lindquist: Alpha-synuclein is part of a diverse and highly conserved interaction network that includes PARK9 and manganese toxicity. *Nat Genet*, 41(3), 308-15 (2009) DOI: 10.1038/ng.300 PMid:19182805 PMCid:PMC2683786
- 161. G. Daniel, A. Musso, E. Tsika, A. Fiser, L. Glauser, O. Pletnikova, B. L. Schneider and D. J. Moore: alpha-Synuclein-induced dopaminergic neurodegeneration in a rat model of Parkinson's disease occurs independent of ATP13A2 (PARK9). *Neurobiol Dis*, 73, 229-43 (2015) DOI: 10.1016/j.nbd.2014.10.007 PMid:25461191
- 162. J. P. Covy, E. A. Waxman and B. I. Giasson: Characterization of cellular protective effects of ATP13A2/PARK9 expression

and alterations resulting from pathogenic mutants. *J Neurosci Res*, 90(12), 2306-16 (2012) DOI: 10.1002/jnr.23112 PMid:22847264 PMCid:PMC4484830

- 163. J. Tan, T. Zhang, L. Jiang, J. Chi, D. Hu, Q. Pan, D. Wang and Z. Zhang: Regulation of intracellular manganese homeostasis by Kufor-Rakeb syndrome-associated ATP13A2 protein. J Biol Chem, 286(34), 29654-62 (2011) DOI: 10.1074/jbc.M111.233874 PMid:21724849 PMCid:PMC3191006
- 164. G. Rentschler, L. Covolo, A. A. Haddad, R. G. Lucchini, S. Zoni and K. Broberg: ATP13A2 (PARK9) polymorphisms influence the neurotoxic effects of manganese. *Neurotoxicology*, 33(4), 697-702 (2012) DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2012.01.007 PMid:22285144 PMCid:PMC3997180
- 165. T. Holemans, D. M. Sorensen, S. van Veen, S. Martin, D. Hermans, G. C. Kemmer, C. Van den Haute, V. Baekelandt, T. Gunther Pomorski, P. Agostinis, F. Wuytack, M. Palmgren, J. Eggermont and P. Vangheluwe: A lipid switch unlocks Parkinson's diseaseassociated ATP13A2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 112(29), 9040-5 (2015) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1508220112 PMid:26134396 PMCid:PMC4517210
- 166. L. R. Kett, B. Stiller, M. M. Bernath, I. Tasset, J. Blesa, V. Jackson-Lewis, R. B. Chan, B. Zhou, G. Di Paolo, S. Przedborski, A. M. Cuervo and W. T. Dauer: alpha-Synucleinindependent histopathological and motor deficits in mice lacking the endolysosomal Parkinsonism protein Atp13a2. *J Neurosci*, 35(14), 5724-42 (2015) DOI: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0632-14.2015 PMid:25855184 PMCid:PMC4388928
- 167. A. Carmona, G. Deves, S. Roudeau, P. Cloetens, S. Bohic and R. Ortega: Manganese accumulates within golgi apparatus in dopaminergic cells as revealed by synchrotron X-ray fluorescence nanoimaging. ACS Chem Neurosci, 1(3), 194-203 (2010) DOI: 10.1021/cn900021z PMid:22778823 PMCid:PMC3368660
- 168. S. Baron, P. Vangheluwe, M. R. Sepulveda, F. Wuytack, L. Raeymaekers and J. Vanoevelen: The secretory pathway Ca⁽²⁺⁾-ATPase 1 is associated with cholesterolrich microdomains of human colon

adenocarcinoma cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1798(8), 1512-21 (2010) DOI: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2010.03.023 PMid:20363212

- 169. M. R. Sepulveda, J. Vanoevelen, L. Raeymaekers, A. M. Mata and F. Wuytack: Silencing the SPCA1 (secretory pathway Ca2+-ATPase isoform 1) impairs Ca2+ homeostasis in the Golgi and disturbs neural polarity. *J Neurosci*, 29(39), 12174-82 (2009) DOI: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2014-09.2009 PMid:19793975
- 170. S. Mukhopadhyay and A. D. Linstedt: Identification of a gain-of-function mutation in a Golgi P-type ATPase that enhances Mn²⁺ efflux and protects against toxicity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108(2), 858-63 (2011) DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1013642108 PMid:21187401 PMCid:PMC3021037
- 171. S. Mukhopadhyay and A. D. Linstedt: Manganese blocks intracellular trafficking of Shiga toxin and protects against Shiga toxicosis. *Science*, 335(6066), 332-5 (2012) DOI: 10.1126/science.1215930 PMid:22267811 PMCid:PMC5367627
- 172. R. Tewari, T. Jarvela and A. D. Linstedt: Manganese induces oligomerization to promote down-regulation of the intracellular trafficking receptor used by Shiga toxin. *Mol Biol Cell*, 25(19), 3049-58 (2014) DOI: 10.1091/mbc.E14-05-1003 PMid:25079690 PMCid:PMC4230593
- 173. E. A. Malecki: Manganese toxicity is associated with mitochondrial dysfunction and DNA fragmentation in rat primary striatal neurons. *Brain Research Bulletin*, 55(2), 225-228 (2001) DOI: 10.1016/S0361-9230(01)00456-7
- 174. W. Zheng, S. Ren and J. H. Graziano: Manganese inhibits mitochondrial aconitase: a mechanism of manganese neurotoxicity. *Brain Research*, 799(2), 334-342 (1998) DOI: 10.1016/S0006-8993(98)00481-8
- 175. T. E. Gunter, C. E. Gavin and K. K. Gunter: The Role of Mitochondrial Oxidative Stress and ATP Depletion in the Pathology of Manganese Toxicity. In: *Metal Ion in Stroke*. Ed Y. V. Li&J. H. Zhang. Springer New York, New York, NY (2012)

- 176. M. Morello, A. Canini, P. Mattioli, R. P. Sorge, A. Alimonti, B. Bocca, G. Forte, A. Martorana, G. Bernardi and G. Sancesario: Sub-cellular localization of manganese in the basal ganglia of normal and manganesetreated rats. *NeuroToxicology*, 29(1), 60-72 (2008) DOI: 10.1016/j.neuro.2007.09.001 PMid:17936361
- 177. C. E. Gavin, K. K. Gunter and T. E. Gunter: Manganese and calcium transport in mitochondria: implications for manganese toxicity. *Neurotoxicology*, 20(2-3), 445-53 (1999)
- 178. B. Nota, E. A. Struvs, A. Pop, E. E. Jansen, M. R. Fernandez Ojeda, W. A. Kanhai, M. Kranendijk, S. J. van Dooren, M. R. Bevova, E. A. Sistermans, A. W. Nieuwint, M. Barth, T. Ben-Omran, G. F. Hoffmann, P. de Lonlay, M. T. McDonald, A. Meberg, A. C. Muntau, J. M. Nuoffer, R. Parini, M. H. Read, A. Renneberg, R. Santer, T. Strahleck, E. van Schaftingen, M. S. van der Knaap, C. Jakobs and G. S. Salomons: Deficiency in SLC25A1, encoding the mitochondrial citrate carrier, causes combined D-2- and L-2-hydroxyalutaric aciduria. Am J Hum Genet, 92(4), 627-31 (2013) DOI: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2013.03.009 PMid:23561848 PMCid:PMC3617390
- 179. T. E. Gunter and J. S. Puskin: Manganous ion as a spin label in studies of mitochondrial uptake of manganese. *Biophys J*, 12(6), 625-35 (1972)
 DOI: 1016/S0006-3495(72)86108-3
- 180. R. E. Gunter, J. S. Puskin and P. R. Russell: Quantitative magnetic resonance studies of manganese uptake by mitochondria. *Biophys J*, 15(4), 319-33 (1975) DOI: 10.1016/S0006-3495(75)85822-X
- 181. C. E. Gavin, K. K. Gunter and T. E. Gunter: Manganese and calcium efflux kinetics in brain mitochondria. Relevance to manganese toxicity. *Biochem J*, 266(2), 329-34 (1990) DOI: 10.1042/bj2660329 PMid:2317189 PMCid:PMC1131135
- 182. F. Liu, I. Rehmani, S. Esaki, R. Fu, L. R. Chen, V. de Serrano and A. M. Liu: Pirin is an iron-dependent redox regulator of NF-kappa B. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 110(24), 9722-9727 (2013)

DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1221743110 PMid:23716661 PMCid:PMC3683729

Key Words: Manganese, Metal Metabolism, Homeostasis, Blood-Brain Barrier, Neurotoxicity, Transporters, Review

Send correspondence to: Pan Chen, Department of Molecular Pharmacology, Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Forchheimer 209, 1300 Morris Park Avenue, Bronx, NY 10461, Tel: 718-430-4047, Fax: 718-430-8922, E-mail: pan. chen@einstein.yu.edu